# **AGREEMENT**

# between

# THE MAINE EDUCATIONAL CENTER FOR THE DEAF AND HARD OF HEARING /GOVERNOR BAXTER SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF

and

THE MAINE SERVICE EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION – SEIU

PROFESSIONAL AND SUPERVISORY UNITS

FY 2024 and FY 2025

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	1
PREAMBLE	1
ARTCLE 1. UNION RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2. ACCESS TO EMPLOYEES	1
ARTICLE 3. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	2
ARTICLE 4. BULLETIN BOARDS	2
ARTICLE 4. BULLETEN BOARDS ARTICLE 5. CHILDBIRTH, ADOPTION AND LONG-TERM FOSTER CARE LEAVE	3
ARTICLE 6. COMPENSATION	4
ARTICLE 7. COMPLAINTS AND INVESTIGATIONS	2
ARTICLE 8. CONCLUSION OF NEGOTIATIONS	2
ARTICLE 9. COPIES OF AGREEMENT	0
ARTICLE 10. COURT SERVICE/JURY DUTY	0
ARTICLE 11. COURT TIME	7
ARTICLE 12. DEFERRED COMPENSATION	. /
ARTICLE 13. DENTAL INSURANCE	$I_{\sigma}$
ARTICLE 14. DISCIPLINE	. /
ARTICLE 15. WELLNESS AND EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	, ŏ
ARTICLE 16. EMPLOYEE DATA	δ,
ARTICLE 17. EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING	. B
ARTICLE 18. EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION LEAVE	. y 11
ARTICLE 19. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT	11
ARTICLE 20. EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITY (ECA) STIPEND POSITIONS	12
ARTICLE 21. FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS	12
ARTICLE 22. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	15
ARTICLE 23. HEALTH AND SAFETY	13
ARTICLE 24. HEALTH INSURANCE	10
ARTICLE 25. HOLIDAYS	10
ARTICLE 26. JOB DESCRIPTIONS	17
ARTICLE 27. LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	17
ARTICLE 28. LIFE INSURANCE	17
ARTICLE 29. MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS	17
ARTICLE 30. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	17
ARTICLE 31. MILITARY LEAVE	10
ARTICLE 32. MSEA MEMBERSHIP PACKETS	10
ARTICLE 33. MSEA RETIREMENT HANDBOOK	10
ARTICLE 34. NON-DISCRIMINATION	10
ARTICLE 35. OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT	10
ARTICLE 36. PERSONAL TIME	20
ARTICLE 37. PERSONAL SERVICES	20
ARTICLE 38. PERSONNEL FILES	20
ARTICLE 39. PROBATIONARY PERIOD	21
ARTICLE 40. RESIGNATIONS	21
ARTICLE 41. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES	21
ARTICLE 42. RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS	21
ARTICLE 43. RULES AND REGULATIONS	22
ARTICLE 44. SABBATICAL LEAVE	22

ARTICLE 45. SCHOOL VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT	23
ARTICLE 46. SENIORITY, REDUCTION OF FORCE AND VACANCIES	23
ARTICLE 47. SEVERABILITY	26
ARTICLE 48. SICK LEAVE	27
ARTICLE 50. UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION	30
ARTICLE 51. UNPAID PERSONAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE	31
ARTICLE 52. USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES.	32
ARTICLE 53. VACATION	32
ARTICLE 54. WORK RULES	33
ARTICLE 55. WORK STOPPAGE AND SLOWDOWN	33
ARTICLE 56. WORKERS' COMPENSATION	33
ARTICLE 57. DUTY-FREE LUNCH	34
ARTICLE 58. HOURS AND WORK SCHEDULES	34
ARTICLE 59. TERM OF AGREEMENT	36
ARTICLE 60. CERTIFICATIONS	36

#### PREAMBLE

Whereas, the Maine Educational Center for the Deat and Hard of Hearing/Governor Baxter School for the Deaf School Board (hereinafter referred to as "the Board" or "MECDHH/GBSD") and the Maine Service Employees Association-SEIU (hereinafter referred to as "MSEA" or "the Union") desire to establish a constructive, cooperative and harmonious relationship; to avoid any interruption or interference with the operations of the employer; to promote effective service and quality of work life towards the accomplishment of the educational mission of the Board; and to establish an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences, this Agreement is entered into by the parties.

#### ARTCLE 1. UNION RECOGNITION

The Board recognizes MSEA as the sole and exclusive representative for the purpose of representation and negotiations with respect to wages, hours of work and other conditions of employment for all employees included in the Professional Unit, including, ASL Specialists, Classroom Teachers, Deaf Mentors, Educational Audiologists, Early Intervention Providers, Information Systems Support Specialists, Occupational Therapists, Coordinators, Outreach Consultants, Social Workers, Speech Language Pathologists, excluding summer school positions.

In the event of a dispute between the parties as to future inclusions or exclusions from the unit resulting from the establishment of new or changed classifications or titles, either party to this Agreement may apply to the Maine Labor Relations Board for resolution of the dispute.

Part-time employees will be covered by the provisions of this Agreement after completion of six (6) months of service. All benefits provided to part-time employees shall be prorated.

Temporary, seasonal, and on-call employees, and employees employed fewer than six months are excluded by law from the bargaining unit.

#### ARTICLE 2. ACCESS TO EMPLOYEES

MSEA shall have access to employees covered by this Agreement to carry out its legal responsibilities as a bargaining agent as provided for in this Article. MSEA's representatives will be granted reasonable access to employees during employees' working hours for the purpose of investigating and processing grievances and for the purposes of administering this Agreement. Such access will be subject to the representative providing the Executive Director or their designee notice of the visit. Such access will not disrupt MECDHH/GBSD operations, the educational program or violate MECDHH/GBSD security procedures. If access needs to be temporarily delayed for special reasons, those reasons shall be explained to the MSEA representative.

- 1. Yearly Staff Meeting Access: MSEA, once, during each year of this contract, will be given access to all current staff for the purpose of explaining the benefits provided to and for members. This access will be on the clock, for up to thirty (30) minutes, preferably at an all-day staff meeting
- 2. General Unpaid Access: Any MSEA representative may have access to employees in this unit for the purpose of explaining MSEA programs and benefits during employees' non-working

time, e.g., breaks, lunch periods and after hours, provided such access does not interfere with MECDHH/GBSD operations or the educational program. During the work week such access shall be limited to non-work areas.

- 3. New Employees: MECDHH/GBSD will inform MSEA-SEIU of their new employee hires within thirty (30) days of the hire date. MECDHH/GBSD will provide MSEA-SEIU with the new hire's name, address, position, work email and work phone number. Each new employee, including employees who are new to an MSEA-SEIU bargaining unit, shall be allowed 30 minutes of paid work time within thirty (30) calendar days of the hire date to meet with a representative of MSEA SEIU for the purpose of explaining MSEA-SEIU programs and benefits.
- 4. The Union may conduct workplace meetings during lunch and other breaks, and before and after the work day, on the public employer's premises to discuss workplace issues, collective bargaining, negotiations, the administration of the collective bargaining agreements and other matters related to the duties of a bargaining agent and internal bargaining agent matters involving the governance or the business of the bargaining agent.

The Union has the right to use government buildings and other facilities that are owned or leased by government entities to conduct meetings with bargaining unit members regarding bargaining negotiations, the administration of collective bargaining agreements, the investigation of grievances and other workplace related complaints and issues involving the government of business of the bargaining agent, as long as that use does not interfere with governmental operations. A bargaining agent conducting a meeting in a government building or facility may be charged for maintenance, security and other costs related to the use of the government building or facility that would not otherwise be incurred by the government entity.

Notice shall be given to the executive Director in advance of any meeting to be conducted at the employer's workplace, to include date, time, location and estimated number of attendees, by following the organizations procedure for events.

#### ARTICLE 3. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

Each employee covered by this Agreement shall be allowed up to:

- Ten (10) regular workdays leave with pay, for absence resulting from the death of a spouse or partner, child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, grandchild, brother, or sister;
- Five (5) regular workdays leave with pay, for absences resulting from the death of a parent-inlaw, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, or grandparents; and
- Three (3) regular workdays of leave with pay to attend the funeral of an aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew.

"Partner" means that a relationship exists between two people, neither of whom is married, that is intended to remain indefinitely and where there is joint responsibility for each other's common welfare, there are significant shared financial obligations, and there is a shared primary residence. This relationship must have existed for at least one (1) continuous year before benefits under this Article may be provided.

#### ARTICLE 4, BULLETIN BOARDS

The Board shall continue to provide present bulletin board space for the use of MSEA at each work location where bulletin boards are presently provided for the purpose of posting bulletins, notices, and other materials in conformance with this Article. The posting of any MSEA materials shall be restricted to such bulletin board space only except that, in each work location where bulletin board space is not provided for MSEA, the Executive Director or their designee shall designate an appropriate alternative space where such materials may be posted in consultation with the Union Steward.

In no instance may MSEA post any material which is profane, obscene, or defamatory to the Board, its representatives or any individual, or which constitutes campaign material between competing employee organizations if it is determined that the posting of such material would violate any obligation of the Board for neutrality. MSEA is solely responsible for the accuracy and ethical standards of any material posted pursuant to this Article. The Executive Director or their designee retains the right to remove any materials in violation of this Article.

All posted MSEA materials shall be signed by an authorized representative of the Association or stamped with an official MSEA logo.

# ARTICLE 5. CHILDBIRTH, ADOPTION AND LONG-TERM FOSTER CARE LEAVE

- 1. For employees who have worked for MECDHH/GBSD for the previous twelve months paid parental leave of two weeks (ten work days) for the birth of a child or adoption will be granted to an employee for their regularly scheduled hours on the days, beginning on and directly following the birth or adoption of a child or children. This benefit may be used once each academic year. These two weeks will run concurrent with FMLA.
- 2. Additional childbirth, adoption or long-term foster care leave may be granted to an employee without salary for a period not to exceed one (1) school year. Any childbirth, adoption or long-term foster care leave that also qualifies for federal or state family and medical leave must be taken concurrent with FMLA leave and will be paid to the extent that the employee has accrued paid leave. The balance of the childbirth, adoption or long-term foster care leave will be unpaid. Employees taking childbirth, adoption or long-term foster care leave for non-FMLA qualifying purposes have the option of utilizing any accrued paid leave, with the balance being unpaid. Employees shall be allowed to retain insurance benefits during such leave. Except during any period covered by the use of applicable paid and/or federal FMLA leave, retention of insurance benefits shall be at the employee's expense.
- 3. The employee must apply to the Executive Director in writing as soon as possible, but no later than thirty (30) days prior to the date requested to begin the leave. The Executive Director has the discretion to deny such leave should an appropriate replacement not be available. Such leave is only available to employees who have primary responsibility for a biological or adopted child under the age of two, or in the case of a child adopted after the age of two, under the age of six.
- 4. Employees on such leave must notify the Executive Director by March 1 (or other specific date as determined by the Executive Director) of their intent to return to employment or forfeit their right to return. To minimize disruption to the educational process, employees with direct student

contact must agree to return at the beginning of an academic quarter oranother date specified in advance by the Executive Director. In the case of employees in the Outreach Program with direct student contact, the return date will be determined with consideration for the employee's particular caseload.

5. Employees will be returned to their previous position or, if said position is not available, to a comparable position.

## ARTICLE 6. COMPENSATION

- A. The wage scales for the term of this contract are attached as Appendix A.
  - 1. Effective July 1st 2023 1.5% Increase to the salary scale (Appendix A)
  - 2. Effective July 1st 2024 1.5% increase to the salary scale (Appendix A)
  - 3. No Professional staff will be placed lower than Step 5 on their respective scale

### B. Salary Schedule Progression

Employees annually shall progress from step to step on the salary scale on the basis of satisfactory job performance based upon established standards of performance and years of experience at MECDHH/GBSD. In Year One (ratification through June 30, 2024), employees shall progress a second bonus step on the salary scale on the basis of satisfactory job performance based upon established standards of performance. Employees entering employment of the Board for the first time may receive full experience credit up to the maximum step of the salary scale based upon comparable teaching/professional experience and certifications. In the event the Executive Director has difficulty in recruiting employees into certain positions, the Board reserves the right to place new hires at a higher step on the scale. The Union shall be notified when such action is taken.

### C. Longevity

Employees with ten (10), fifteen (15), twenty (20) and twenty-five (25) years of continuous service shall be eligible for a longevity differential for all regular hours worked. This differential shall be twenty-five (\$.25) cents per hour upon ten (10) years of continuous service, fifty (\$.50) cents per hour upon fifteen (15) years of continuous service, seventy-five (\$.75) cents per hour upon twenty (20) years of continuous service and one-dollar (\$1.00) per hour upon twenty-five (25) years of continuous service.

For purposes of longevity ten (10), fifteen (15), twenty (20) and twenty-five (25) years of continuous service is defined as continuous employment with MECDHH/GBSD, including all authorized leaves of absence except leaves taken under the unpaid personal leave of absence article.

Those employees who were working for the State of Maine and transferred to GBSD while it was still part of the Executive Branch shall be able to count all of their years in State service as continuous employment with MECDHH/GBSD for the purposes of computing longevity. In the event such an employee had a break in service while working for the State of Maine, all service following the break counts as continuous employment with MECDHH/GBSD.

D. Coordinators: Coordinators: When a Coordinator obtains an Assistant Special Education

Director or Director of Special Education Certification (which is a requirement for the position), a Coordinator will receive an additional step on the salary scale. Coordinators working as early intervention coordinators may satisfy this requirement by obtaining an equivalent certification for early intervention, which has been approved by the Executive Director.

# ARTICLE 7. COMPLAINTS AND INVESTIGATIONS

- 1. This article applies to complaints or allegations made externally and not from normal supervisory activities. In cases of alleged abuse or neglect of students by employees, the Complaints and Investigation Protocol of Abuse and Neglect Investigations or Standards Violations adopted by the Board shall be followed. In such cases, should there be any procedural inconsistencies between the protocol and this article, the protocol shall apply.
  - 2. Any other type of complaint concerning an employee shall be addressed as follows:
  - a. The Executive Director/designee shall be responsible for insuring that all complaints against an employee on which any action is to be taken or a record is to be made shall be investigated.
  - b. The Executive Director/designee may interview the complainant prior to notifying the employee.
  - c. In order to determine whether there is a basis to conduct an investigation, the Executive Director/designee may, at their discretion, conduct an informal interview with the employee about whom a complaint has been made. The interview shall be conducted at a reasonable time and, when practicable, on MECDHH/GBSD premises when the employee is on duty. A union representative may be present to advise the employee during the interview.
  - d. If the Executive Director/designee determines that there is no basis to further investigate the complaint, the employee shall be informed in writing that a complaint was made against them but was unsubstantiated.
  - e. If the Executive Director/designee determines that there is a basis for further investigation, they shall inform the employee in writing.
  - f. If an employee is to be interviewed as a witness only and in the course of the interview it becomes apparent that the employee witness may be subject to discipline as a result of conduct which is the subject of the interview, the interview shall be postponed for a reasonable time to enable the employee to consult with a union representative.
  - g. The employee shall be informed in writing of the results of the investigation and any determinations made.
  - h. The investigation report and supporting documents will be retained permanently by the Executive Director.

- A. The Board and MSEA agree that this Agreement is the entire Agreement, terminates all prior Agreements or understandings and concludes all collective negotiations during its term. Neither party will during the term of this Agreement seek to unilaterally modify its terms through legislation or other means which may be available to them.
- B. Each party agrees that it shall not attempt to compel negotiations during the term of this Agreement on matters that could have been raised during the negotiations that preceded this Agreement, matters that were raised during the negotiations that preceded this Agreement or matters that are specifically addressed in this Agreement.

### ARTICLE 9. COPIES OF AGREEMENT

The parties shall jointly arrange for printing copies of this Agreement. Each party shall pay for the copies it requires for distribution. The Board Agrees to make available on the MECDHH/GBSD website current copies of the Union contract and agrees to notify new employees of the location of that contract.

## ARTICLE 10. COURT SERVICE/JURY DUTY

If an employee is required to appear in court or pursuant to a subpoena or other order of a court or body or to perform jury service, and such appearance or service results in their absence from work, they shall be granted court service leave for the period of time necessary to fulfill such requirement. Any employee who makes an appearance and whose service is not required shall return to work as soon as practicable after release.

An employee on court service leave for a full day shall receive the difference between the payments received for such court service, excluding any travel allowance, and their regular pay.

Any employee returning to work from court service leave shall be paid by MECDHH/GBSD for their actual hours worked or a minimum of the difference between payment received from the court, excluding any travel allowance, and their regular pay, whichever is greater.

The provisions of this Article shall not apply to an employee summoned to or appearing before a court or body as a party to any private legal action or in connection with any legal proceeding arising out of the employee's unprofessional or dishonorable conduct; any action brought by the employee against MECDHH/GBSD; or involving any breach of this Agreement by the employee or MSEA.

#### ARTICLE 11. COURT TIME

An employee who is called to appear as a witness in their official capacity by a court, including administrative court, on a scheduled day off, a scheduled vacation day or other approved day off shall be paid for the hours so spent, including actual, necessary travel time, at their regular hourly rate. Payment under this Article shall be the total payment for such court time from all sources other than regular pay for the scheduled day off.

### ARTICLE 12. DEFERRED COMPENSATION

MECDHH/GBSD agrees to submit deductions of the employees who participate in the Deferred Compensation program by payroll deduction as soon as practicable but no later than ten (10) workdays after such deductions are made.

#### ARTICLE 13. DENTAL INSURANCE

MECDHH/GBSD agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the employee premium of a dental insurance program for full-time employees for the contract term. MECDHH/GBSD agrees to provide payroll deduction for dental insurance, provided such arrangements are agreed to by the insurance carrier. Dependent coverage will be available provided there is sufficient employee participation in the dental insurance program. Dependent coverage will be at the employee's expense. Part time employees are eligible for pro-rated benefits.

#### ARTICLE 14. DISCIPLINE

1. After the probationary period, no employee shall be disciplined by MECDHH/GBSD without just cause. Notwithstanding the foregoing, probationary employees may be dismissed without just cause.

Disciplinary action requiring just cause shall be limited to the following: oral reprimand, written reprimand, suspension, demotion, and dismissal. The principles of progressive discipline shall be followed.

2. No employee covered by this Agreement shall be suspended without pay, demoted or dismissed without first having been given notice in writing of the disciplinary action to be taken. The conduct for which disciplinary action is being imposed and the action to be taken shall be specified in a written notice. Any employee receiving a notice of suspension, demotion or dismissal will be afforded an opportunity to meet with the Executive Director prior to the action proposed. The employee will be entitled to have a Union representative or steward present. At that meeting the Executive Director will give the employee an explanation of the employer's evidence against the employee (if that has not already been provided) and offer the employee an opportunity to respond. Employees are on notice that a finding of having abused a student is excluded from progressive discipline and may result in termination on first offense.

Any employee suspended without pay, demoted, or dismissed may appeal such disciplinary action to the Board in writing within fifteen (15) workdays after the employee becomes aware of such disciplinary action. The Board's decision may be processed through the grievance procedure.

# ARTICLE 15. WELLNESS AND EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

There shall be a broad-brush comprehensive Employee Assistance Program ("EAP") to provide

confidential assessment and referral services for School employees. The EAP is intended to aid School employees and their families, and retirees, in cases where personal problems of any nature are having a detrimental effect on the employee's job performance. Services provided directly by the EAP shall be at no cost.

MECDHH/GBSD is committed to forming a committee whose purpose is to promote wellness activities for all employees. This committee will meet regularly to seek out information and a variety of activities for staff to get involved in. It is also expected that this group will make recommendation to the Board that will encourage and promote healthy living lifestyle choices for employees.

#### ARTICLE 16. EMPLOYEE DATA

- 1. So long as not prohibited by law, MECDHH/GBSD shall furnish to MSEA each October, at Union expense, the name, address, classification, pay range and step, initial date of hire for each employee covered by this Agreement. An employee may request, in writing, that their home address not be released by MECDHH/GBSD. MSEA shall indemnify, defend, and hold the Board harmless against all claims and suits which may arise as a result of the Board furnishing such listing to MSEA.
- 2. Upon mutual agreement, MECDHH/GBSD and MSEA will use technology available to each party for the purpose of receiving the aforementioned electronic data in the most efficient manner possible. By mutual agreement, such information transmitted to MSEA in a hard copy format will be transmitted electronically after agreement between the parties on format and content.

# ARTICLE 17. EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

MECDHH/GBSD will provide suitable staff development and training programs for employees covered by this Agreement within budgetary constraints. This Article is not applicable to coursework, such as college courses, which are addressed in Article 19.

In order to enhance and encourage educational and training opportunities a minimum of two (2) days for the purpose of training will be available to each employee in this unit. This training will be contingent upon availability of funds and requires pre-approval by the Executive Director. The Executive Director has the authority to deny requests which do not meet the educational needs of MECDHH/GBSD or when there are no appropriate substitutes available.

# A. Mandated Training

1. Employees shall be given reasonable notice of applicable development and training programs available. Such notice shall include an explanation of the procedure for applying for the program. Participation in any training inside or outside of work hours which is required by MECDHH/GBSD as a condition of fulfilling the requirements of the employee's job, or any in-service School training which is conducted or undertaken during normally scheduled work hours will be considered as time worked.

MECDHH/GBSD shall pay tuition, course-related fees, other approved course required costs and for necessary travel and lodging for courses required by the Board or Executive Director. To encourage educational and training opportunities, MECDHH/GBSD will provide to each employee in the bargaining unit a minimum of two (2) days for educational and training opportunities.

# B. Elective Training (not mandated by Administration)

- 1. Employees may apply to the Executive Director to attend elective training that is directly related to their field. The following conditions apply:
  - a. Training must be approved by the Executive Director or their designee;
  - b. Approval will be, at least in part, contingent on the availability of funds; and
  - Training will be reimbursed at the sole discretion of the Executive Director.

# ARTICLE 18. EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATION LEAVE

### A. Leave for MSEA Organization Activities

The MECDHH/GBSD shall provide Employee Organization Leave without loss of pay or benefits for one employee who is a member and officer of the MSEA Board of Directors to attend a maximum of one (1) one-day meeting per month of the Board of Directors. For purposes of this Article, the Board of Directors shall consist of sixteen (16) members: twelve (12) from the Council, the President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer of MSEA. Additionally, MECDHH/GBSD shall provide one (1) day per year Employee Organization Leave with pay for one MSEA member who has an official capacity to attend the annual MSEA Council meeting. The employee shall provide the Executive Director with at least two (2) weeks' notice of the meeting and provide documentation of attendance upon their return.

### B. Leave for Negotiations

Members of the MSEA bargaining team (whose numbers shall not exceed four (4) for each unit) shall suffer no loss in pay or benefits for participation in negotiations for a successor Agreement. No compensation shall be paid if negotiations occur outside an employee's normal work hours. Additionally, leave may be requested for other members necessary for participation on specific negotiations issues and such leave shall not be unreasonably denied. The parties recognize that negotiations that take place during the employee's work day impact on the educational program and students, and to the extent possible, negotiations will be held outside of the student day.

MSEA shall give reasonable notice to the Executive Director of the names of those bargaining team members who will be attending particular bargaining sessions. MSEA recognizes that exceptional circumstances might preclude the release of an individual on a particular day.

When an employee at a satellite site is a member of the bargaining team, they shall participate

in negotiations via electronic communication, except when the parties mutually agree that the employee from the satellite site should attend particular negotiation sessions.

#### C. Stewards

- 1. The Union may designate employees to act as a steward on their behalf. The names of the employee designated as steward shall be given to the Executive Director after they complete their training with MSEA or upon reasonable request. Such stewards will be allowed a reasonable amount of time away from their work without loss of pay to investigate and process grievances.
- Prior to leaving their work to attend such business, a steward shall obtain consent of their supervisor. If operational considerations or workloads temporarily delay the release of a steward to attend to proper duties under this Article, they will be released for such purposes as soon as practicable.
- 3. Whenever a steward works on union business and such work extends beyond the end of their normal workday, such activity shall not be considered as time worked. Any travel or other expenses of a steward's activities shall not be borne by the MECDHH/GBSD.
- Each Steward shall be entitled to three (3) days of leave per year without loss of pay or benefits to participate in official MSEA sponsored steward training. MSEA shall provide the Executive Director with at least two (2) weeks' notice and the employee shall provide documentation of attendance upon their return. No additional compensation shall be paid if the training extends beyond the end of the employee's normal work hours. Such leave shall not be withheld unless operational needs so require and shall not be arbitrarily denied. This leave will be capped at thirteen days (13) total and that amount will be share between the Professional and Support Contracts.

# D. Leave for Other Organizational Business

Employees engaged in MSEA business may apply for administrative leave without pay. Such applications shall not be unreasonably denied, and if denied the reasons for the denial shall be stated to the applicant in writing. The Executive Director has the authority to deny or defer such leave if it interferes with operations and/or the educational program and to limit the amount of leave used by individual employees. The employee shall provide the Executive Director with at least two (2) weeks' notice of the MSEA business and provide documentation of attendance upon their return.

#### E. Travel Time

Leave provided in paragraph B of this Article shall apply to and cover actual and necessary travel to and from such meetings required during normal working hours on the day of the meeting or negotiations.

# F. Leave to Attend Pre-Retirement Counseling Programs

Employees who will be eligible for retirement within one (1) year will be granted one

(1) leave day without loss of pay to attend the MSEA pre-retirement counseling program.

### ARTICLE 19. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT

### A. Mileage Allowance

- 1. The mileage allowance for pre-approved travel will be the rate established by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, and should said rate increase, the MECDHH/GBSD agrees to pay the new rate effective on the date of their crease.
- 2. Employees with special needs and who operate their own specially equipped vehicle with adapted equipment on MECDHH/GBSD business shall receive a mileage reimbursement rate of an additional thirteen cents (\$.13) permile.

# B. Lodging and Meal Expenses

Employees in travel status in the performance of their duties shall be entitled to expenses of necessary lodging and/or meals. Nothing contained in this Article shall be deemed to alter the present MECDHH/GBSD policy prohibiting reimbursement for meals that are part of an organized meeting or program or overnight travel.

1. Estimated travel expenses shall be advanced to employees when reasonable and when requested. Requests for reimbursement of approved expenses must be submitted within thirty (30) days of when they are incurred and shall be paid within thirty (30) days of submission.

#### 3. N/A

4. Meal reimbursements for overnight stays will be at the rates established by the federal General Services Administration (which can be found at the following URL — https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/oer-diem-rates). Charges for alcohol will not be reimbursed. Breakfast shall not be paid unless it follows an overnight stay. Receipts will be required.

# C. Telephone Expenses

The MECDHH/GBSD shall provide a cell phone as needed on a case-by-case basis.

# D. Reimbursement for Elective Courses

The Board shall budget, to the best of its ability, a reasonable amount offunds each fiscal year to reimburse employees for coursework directly related to their field. The following conditions apply:

1) Courses will be reimbursed on a first-come, first-served basis until the pool has been depleted for the year (although no employee will be reimbursed for more than three courses per year); 2) Reimbursement will be for 85% of the credit cost of the course, based on the current undergraduate or graduate credit rate at the University of Southern Maine; 3) Employees must be currently employed at MECDHH/GBSD and obtain pre-approval from the Executive Director. The Executive Director's decision as to whether a course is reimbursable is final and non-grievable; 4) Employees must receive

a "B" or better in the course to be eligible for reimbursement; 5) Reimbursement shall only be made for courses pre-approved and taken in the current contract year; and 6) If the certification requirements of a position change for an employee already in that position, MECDHH/GBSD will pay in full for any required coursework.

#### E. Video Display Terminals

1. All employees who spend at least eighty percent (80%) of their work time operating "VDT's shall be entitled to an annual examination by an eye doctor at the expense of MECDHH/GBSD when not covered by the employee's health insurance. All costs above and beyond the insurance coverage for this annual eye exam, including a co-pay related to that eye exam, will be reimbursed by MECDHH/GBSD. Prior to reimbursement, employees must submit an itemized receipt from their eye doctor verifying the expense incurred.

Employees receiving such annual eye examinations shall receive up to one hundred dollars (\$100.00) toward the cost of regular corrective lenses or glasses needed by the employee as prescribed by the eye doctor. Employees who require bifocal, trifocal, prism or progressive lenses shall receive up to one hundred twenty-five dollars (\$125.00) for the cost of such corrective lenses or glasses needed by the employee as prescribed by the eye doctor. Prior to reimbursement, employees must submit a receipt verifying the expense incurred

# ARTICLE 20. EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITY (ECA) STIPEND POSITIONS

Extracurricular activity (ECA) stipend positions will be opened and posted for applications as needed. All stipend position will be posted for a minimum of ten (10) days before an appointment is made and will expire at the end of the fiscal year. An employee's appointment to a stipend position will require the approval of the Executive Director or their designee. It is understood by both parties that ECA positions are not subject to just cause.

#### ARTICLE 21. FLEXIBLE SPENDING ACCOUNTS

MECDHH/GBSD will take appropriate action to establish two flexible spending accounts. One so that employees may have pre-tax income set aside for the payment of uncovered medical/health related expenses and the other so that employees may have pre-tax income set aside for payment of childcare expenses.

MECDHH/GBSD agrees to pay for whatever "start-up" fee may be associated with the establishment of such accounts. It is understood that if there is a monthly fee required to participate in such accounts it will be the responsibility of the employee to pay the fee(s). Participation in the flexible spending accounts is on a voluntary basis.

### ARTICLE 22. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

# 1. Definitions and Scope

1.1 Employees shall have the right to present grievances in accordance with the

procedures prescribed in this Article.

1.2 For purposes of this Agreement, a grievance is a dispute concerning the interpretation or application of the terms or provisions of this Agreement except provisions expressly excluded from the grievance procedure in this Agreement.

#### 2. Procedure

- 2.1 Step 1: Within fifteen (15) workdays after the act or omission which gives rise to the grievance or an employee becomes aware or should have reasonably become aware that they have a grievance, the employee and/or their representative shall present the grievance via American Sign Language (ASL) or in writing to their immediate supervisor. The supervisor shall be responsible for taking such steps as are advisable, including consultation with the Director of Human Resources and Executive Director in an effort to resolve the grievance.
- 2.2 Step 2: If the grievance is not resolved within ten (10) work days of submission at Step 1, within ten (10) workdays thereafter the employee and/or their representative may present the grievance to both their Supervisor/Director as well as HR via email or letter, stating the nature of the grievance, the specific contract provision the employee believes has been violated, and the remedial action requested.
  - (a) HR shall provide the employee and/or their representative with their decision in writing within ten (10) workdays of submission. If the grievance is not thereby resolved, within ten (10) workdays after the receipt of HR's written decision, the employee and/or their representative shall submit the grievance in writing to the Executive Director.
- 2.3 Step 3: The Executive Director shall meet with the employee and/or their representative and shall provide the employee and/or their representative with their decision in writing within fifteen (15) workdays of submission.
- 2.4 Step 4: If the grievance is not resolved at Step 3, within ten (10) workdays after receipt of the written decision of the Executive Director, the MSEA may appeal to the Board by filing a written notice of appeal, together with copies of the written grievance and the Step 3 decision. The Board may meet with the employee and/or their representative no later than the next regular Board meeting. The Board shall provide the employee and the Association with a written decision within ten (10) workdays after the conclusion of such meeting.

### 2.5 Step 5:

(a) If the grievance has not been satisfactorily resolved at Step 4, then MSEA may submit the grievance to arbitration by submitting a request for arbitration to the Executive Director as well as a statement of the grievance specifying the Article, section or clause of the contract alleged to have been violated, along with the concise statement of facts surrounding the issue and the remedial action requested. The request for arbitration shall be received by the Executive Director through personal service or by mailing by registered or certified mail within fifteen (15) workdays of the receipt of the Step 4 decision.

Upon receipt by the Executive Director of a request for arbitration, the parties shall attempt to mutually agree upon an arbitrator. If unable to agree upon an arbitrator within five (5) workdays of receipt of the request for arbitration, the arbitrator shall be selected through the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") in accordance with the AAA rules then in effect.

The request for arbitration along with a request for a list of arbitrators must be received by AAA within three (3) weeks of the Executive Director's receipt of the request for arbitration, in order for the AAA administration fees to be shared equally by the parties. If such request is not received by AAA by the expiration of the three

- (3) weeks but is filed within six (6) weeks, MSEA shall pay the entire AAA administration fee. If a request has not been received by AAA within six (6) weeks of the Executive Director's receipt of the request for arbitration, MSEA will be deemed to have waived its right to appeal the Step 5 decision to arbitration.
- (b) The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding consistent with applicable law and this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from or modify any provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have no authority to award interest on any award. All costs of arbitration, including fees and expenses of the arbitrator, shall be divided equally between the parties, except that each party shall bear the costs of preparing and presenting its own case.
- (c) The arbitrator shall fix the time and place of the hearing, taking into consideration the convenience of the parties. The arbitrator shall be requested to issue a written decision within thirty (30) days after completion of the proceedings. The arbitrator shall be bound by the rules of the AAA which are applicable to labor relations arbitrations and which are in effect at the time of the arbitration. In the event of a disagreement regarding the arbitrability of an issue, the arbitrator shall make a preliminary determination as to whether the issue is arbitrable. Once a determination is made that such a dispute is arbitrable, the arbitrator shall then proceed to determine the merits of the dispute.
- (d) In grievances involving dismissal or non-renewal of a non- probationary employee and/or discipline which has led to a dismissal, the arbitration hearing shall be held within four (4) months of the Step 3 decision. Subsequent hearing dates, if necessary, shall be held at the earliest date(s) offered by the assigned arbitrator and which is mutually acceptable to the parties. The parties agree that in the event of a conflict in the scheduling of grievance arbitrations, grievances involving dismissal and/or discipline which has led to a dismissal shall have priority over all other pending grievance arbitration matters between the parties.

#### 3. General Provisions

3.1 MECDHH/GBSD shall not deny any employee MSEA representation at any stage of the grievance procedure and MSEA shall have the exclusive right to represent employees in any grievance. When an employee elects to pursue a grievance at Steps 1, 2, or 3 without representation, MSEA shall have the right to be present at any grievance step meeting and shall receive copies of written determinations, if any, at all stages. No resolution of a grievance shall be inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.

- 3.2 All of the time limits contained in this Article may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties and such extensions shall, in order to be effective, be confirmed in writing. The parties may mutually agree to bypass steps of the grievance procedure.
- 3.3 In no event can a grievance be taken to the next or any succeeding step of this procedure unless the employee and/or their representative meets the time limits or extensions thereof. Failure of MECDHH/GBSD and its representatives to adhere to the prescribed time limits or extensions thereof shall constitute a waiver of the applicable step and the employee and/or MSEA may proceed to the next step.
- 3.4 Grievances resolved at Steps 1 or 2 shall not constitute a precedent unless a specific agreement to that effect is made by the Executive Director or their designee and MSEA.
- 3.5 Any grievance involving two (2) or more employees within the bargaining unit may be processed jointly.
- 3.6 An aggrieved employee and/or their representative shall have the right to inspect and to obtain copies of any records, documents and other materials relevant to the grievance and in the possession of MECDHH/GBSD to the extent allowed by law. MECDHH/GBSD shall have the right to inspect and to obtain copies of any records, documents and other materials relevant to the grievance and in the possession of the Union.
- 3.7 An aggrieved employee and any employee witnesses as may be reasonable shall not suffer any loss of pay and shall not be required to charge leave credits as a result of processing grievances during such employee's or witnesses' regularly scheduled working hours, provided, however, that when such activities extend beyond such employee's or witnesses' scheduled working hours such time shall not be considered as time worked. Such release time shall not be construed to include preparation of paper work, record-keeping, conferences among Union officials or preparation for representation at a grievance hearing. To the extent possible, the parties agree that, to avoid disruption of the educational program, grievances will not be processed or heard during the student day.
- 3.8 The settlement or an award upon a grievance may or may not be retroactive as the equities of each case demand.

### ARTICLE 23, HEALTH AND SAFETY

MECDHH/GBSD will take appropriate action to assure compliance with all applicable laws concerning the health and safety of employees in its endeavors to provide and maintain safe working conditions. MSEA agrees to support any programs required to meet the health and safety needs of employees.

An employee may request their supervisor to provide safety related equipment, clothing, devices or tools as may be required to maintain a safe working environment. Such requests, if denied, may be appealed to the Executive Director whose decision shall be final and binding on the parties.

## ARTICLE 24. HEALTH INSURANCE

Effective with the start of the pay week commencing closest to the signing of this contract, employees may be required to pay a portion of the Individual Premium of health insurance depending on their base annual salary as follows:

Less than or equal to \$30,000 0%

Greater than \$30,000 and less than \$80,000 5%

\$80,000 and above 10%

MECDHH/GBSD shall pay sixty percent (60%) of the cost of dependent premium for each eligible employee who selects dependent coverage. Part-time employees are eligible for pro-rated benefits.

#### ARTICLE 25. HOLIDAYS

1. The Information System Support Specialist shall receive the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day

Labor Day

Martin Luther King Day Indigenous Peoples Day

Presidents' Day
Patriot's Day
Thanksgiving Day

Memorial Day

Friday following Thanksgiving Day

Christmes Day

Juneteenth Christmas Day Independence Day

Employees released from work on these holidays shall be paid for their regularly scheduled hours of work.

- Any holiday falling on Saturday shall be observed on the preceding Friday and any holiday falling on Sunday shall be observed on the following Monday. Employees who work the calendar date and who are off on the observed date shall be paid their regular rate of pay for the calendar date only. Employees who work both the calendar date and the observed date shall be paid their regular rate of pay for the observed date only. A reasonable attempt shall be made not to schedule an employee for both the calendar date and the observed date of a holiday. Employees who are not scheduled to work either the calendar or the observed day of the holiday shall be given either another day off within the same pay period or a day's pay at the option of MECDHH/GBSD.
- 3. Employees shall be eligible for holiday pay only if they were in pay status on their normal workday immediately preceding and their normal workday following the day and date on which the holiday is observed.

#### ARTICLE 26. JOB DESCRIPTIONS

Job descriptions will be provided annually. If any significant changes in job duty are proposed during the year, the staff person must be provided with 21 days' notice, unless emergency

developments preclude the possibility of such notice.

#### ARTICLE 27. LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

MSEA, the Board and Administration are committed to ongoing, meaningful communications; joint problem-solving and building relationships in order to create and maintain a quality working environment. Therefore a Labor/Management Committee is established for the purpose of discussing issues of concern to MSEA, the Board and the Administration. The Committee shall be comprised of one representative (and one alternate) from each MSEA bargaining unit and an equal number of representatives from the Administration. MSEA members will be appointed by the MSEA unit stewards and the administrative members will be appointed by the Executive Director. Appointments will be made by October 1 each school year. The Labor/Management Committee may be convened upon request of the Executive Director or unit steward/designee at a mutually agreeable time.

#### ARTICLE 28. LIFE INSURANCE

MECDHH/GBSD shall make available group life insurance for employees provided there is sufficient employee interest in such a program. Any such coverage shall be at the employee's own expense.

#### **ARTICLE 29. MAINTENANCE OF BENEFITS**

With respect to negotiable wages, hours and working conditions not covered by this Agreement, MECDHH/GBSD agrees to make no changes without appropriate prior consultation with the Association unless such practice was established pursuant to state law, rule, or other written directive or policy that no longer applies to MECDHH/GBSD procedures. It is understood by the parties, that the Board has the authority to set educational policy, subject to a meet and consult requirement.

### ARTICLE 30. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The MSEA agrees that the Board has and will continue to retain the sole and exclusive right to manage its operations, determine educational policy and retains all management rights, whether exercised or not, unless specifically abridged, modified or delegated by the provisions of this Agreement. Such rights include, but are not limited to, the right to determine the mission, location and size of all facilities and programs; the right to direct its work force; to administer the evaluation system; to establish specifications for each class of positions and to classify or reclassify and to allocate or reallocate new or existing positions; to discipline and dismiss employees; to determine the size and composition of the work force; to eliminate positions; to make temporary layoffs at its discretion; to contract out for goods and services; to determine the operating budget of MECDHH/GBSD; to install new, changed or improved methods of operations; to relieve employees because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons; to maintain the efficiency of the operations entrusted to them; and to take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of MECDHH/GBSD in situations of emergency.

### ARTICLE 31. MILITARY LEAVE

Employees who are members of the National Guard or other authorized State military or naval forces, and those employees who are members of the Army, Air Force, Marine, Coast Guard or Naval Reserve shall be entitled to a leave of absence from their respective duties, without loss of pay, and shall accrue sick and annual leave and seniority during periods of annual training not to exceed seventeen (17) calendar days in any federal fiscal year, as specified by provisions of the National Defense Act or Armed Forces Reserve Act of 1952. To the extent possible, employees are requested to schedule their annual training outside of their scheduled work year.

### ARTICLE 32. MSEA MEMBERSHIP PACKETS

Each newly hired employee eligible upon completion of six (6) months service for coverage by this Agreement shall be provided by the MSEA with a membership packet. MSEA shall be solely responsible for the material contained in such packets, which shall conform to standards contained in the Bulletin Boards Article. Any questions concerning the contents of these packets or MSEA programs shall be referred to MSEA. MECDHH/GBSD shall supply MSEA with employee data as specified in Article 18. MECDHH/GBSD shall also notify MSEA when employees come under coverage of this Agreement due to promotion reclassification, transfer or other change of status and those employees who have terminated their MECDHH/GBSD service within thirty (30) days of determination of such change.

MSEA shall indemnify and hold MECDHH/GBSD harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders or judgments brought or issued againstMECDHH/GBSD as the result of negligence in actions taken or not taken by MECDHH/GBSD under the provisions of this Article.

### ARTICLE 33. MSEA RETIREMENT HANDBOOK

MECDHH/GBSD shall provide MSEA with the names of employees who make application for retirement so that MSEA may forward a copy of their retirement handbook to such employees for informational purposes.

#### ARTICLE 34. NON-DISCRIMINATION

MECDHH/GBSD and MSEA agree that all forms of illegal discrimination, intimidation or harassment will not be tolerated. If proven, such actions will be grounds for discipline up to and including discharge.

MECDHH/GBSD and MSEA agree that any disputes arising out of the provisions of this Article may be processed through the grievance procedure subject to MECDHH/GBSD 's right to have any such grievance considered at the appropriate level by MECDHH/GBSD 's Affirmative Action Officer. This provision shall not preclude other legal remedies provided by law.

- A. The provisions in this agreement are in addition to those as provided by law, regulation or statue.
- B. MECDHH/GBSD agrees it will not discriminate on the basis of sexual orientation, race, creed, color, national origin, gender, gender identity or expression, marital status, parental status, pregnancy status, age, disability, weight, veteran status, participation in a grievance and/or compliant whether formal or informal, or hearing level and/or communication modality.

#### ARTICLE 35, OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

Employees may engage in other employment outside of their MECDHH/GBSD working hours so long as the outside employment does not interfere with their work and/or involve a conflict of interest with their MECDHH/GBSD employment. Whenever it appears that any such outside employment might constitute a conflict of interest, the employee is expected to consult with the Executive Director prior to engaging in such outside employment.

#### **ARTICLE 36. PERSONAL TIME**

Full Time Year-Round and School Year Employees covered under this contract shall be entitled to forty (40) hours of personal time per fiscal year. Personal time must be used in half (1/2) hour increments and a minimum of one (1) hour must be used for each absence. Year Round and School Year Part Time employees are entitled to a pro rated portion of personal leave.

# A Allowable Uses and Notice Requirements

- 1. Planned Purpose: Employees shall provide at least five (5) days advanced, written notice to their supervisor to use personal leave. Personal leave will not be taken without prior approval. Supervisors are expected to review and respond to personal leave requests in a timely manner. In general, planned earned paid leave should not be used for more than three (3) consecutive work days.
- 2 Emergency Purpose: Personal leave may be used for a sudden emergency, sudden illness or injury, or other sudden necessity for which the employee does not have advance notice; is beyond the employee's control to schedule; and is otherwise unforeseeable. Examples include, but are not limited to, sudden illness or injury; car accident; unanticipated child care closure; or residential issues such as burst pipes. In such cases, the employee is required to notify their supervisor as soon as practicable in the circumstances. The supervisor may request documentation demonstrating the necessity of using personal leave if an employee request such leave for three consecutive days or more.
- 3 Requests for personal leave use will not be unreasonably denied.
- B. Personal leave days shall not be carried forward from year to year. Any personal days that an employee does not use maybe be converted to sick leave at the end of the year, provided the employee has not reached the maximum sick leave accumulation.

#### ARTICLE 37. PERSONAL SERVICES

No employee shall be required to perform services of a personal nature.

#### ARTICLE 38. PERSONNEL FILES

- 1. An employee, upon written request to or after prior arrangement with the Executive Director of Director of HR shall be permitted to review their personnel files. Such review shall take place during normal office hours and shall be conducted under the supervision of Human Resources. An employee may review their personnel files at reasonable times during their regular work hours if such review does not require travel out of the normal work area or disrupt operations and/or the educational program. An employee shall be allowed to place in such file a response of reasonable length to anything contained therein which the employee deems to be adverse.
- (a) A written follow-up by the appropriate supervisor or administrator shall occur one year or more after a written reprimend upon written request by the employee.
- An employee's personnel file shall include, but not be limited to, all memoranda and documents relating to such employee which contain commendations, employee performance appraisals or ratings and records of training programs completed.
- 3. Upon request an employee shall be provided a copy of any or all materials in their personnel files within ten(10) days of receipt of the written request, provided that such copies shall be provided at the employee's expense. Copies of material added to the employee's personnel file after the effective date of this Agreement shall be furnished at MECDHH/GBSD's expense and sent to each employee simultaneously with it being placed in their personnel file.

#### ARTICLE 39. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

After a probationary period of three years, subsequent contracts of Professionals in this unit shall be for two years unless notice of non-renewal is provided six months prior to the conclusion of the contract. Professionals shall be employed in accordance with the provisions of the employment statute (20-A M.R.S.A. § 13201).

#### ARTICLE 40. RESIGNATIONS

An employee may resign in good standing by giving written notice to the Executive Director at least 60 calendar days prior to the effective date of the resignation. If less than 60 days' notice is given for a resignation during the school year, the Executive Director reserves the right not to release the employee before the 60 days are completed.

An employee may, at the sole discretion of the Executive Director, withdraw their resignation up to ten (10) calendar days after the date the resignation was submitted.

#### ARTICLE 41. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES

MECDHH/GBSD and MSEA acknowledge the rights and responsibilities of the other party and each agrees to discharge its responsibilities under this Agreement. The MSEA, its officers and representatives at all levels, and all employees are bound to observe the provisions of this Agreement. The Board and its officers and representatives at all levels are bound to observe the provisions of this Agreement.

In addition to the responsibilities that may be provided elsewhere in this Agreement, the following shall be observed:

(a) Exclusive Negotiations. The Board will not bargain collectively or meet with any employee organization other than MSEA with reference to terms and conditions of employment of employees covered by this Agreement. If any such organizations request meetings they will be advised by the Board to transmit their requests concerning terms and conditions of employment to MSEA.

Employees' Rights. There shall be no interference, intimidation, restraint, coercion or discrimination by either the Board or MSEA as a result of the exercise by any employee within the bargaining unit of their statutory rights related to membership in MSEA or any other right granted under the Municipal Public Employees Labor Relations Act.

- (b) Fair Representation. MSEA acknowledges its statutory responsibility to represent and handle grievances for all employees within the bargaining unit. MECDHH/GBSD shall not be responsible for actions taken or not taken by MSEA with respect to its responsibility to provide fair representation.
- (c) Efficient Public Service. MECDHH/GBSD and MSEA acknowledge their mutual responsibility to encourage and foster efficient and economical service in all activities of MECDHH/GBSD involving employees. The parties recognize the responsibility of employees to perform the duties assigned them in an efficient and expeditious manner. The parties further recognize the responsibility of MECDHH/GBSD to promote a working environment and a quality of work life conducive to achievement of these goals.
- (d) Settlement of Grievances. The applicable procedures of this Agreement shall be followed for the settlement of all grievances, except for provisions specifically excluded from the grievance procedure. All grievances shall be considered carefully and processed promptly.

#### **ARTICLE 42. RETIREMENT CONTRIBUTION REFUNDS**

Refund of an employee's accumulated contributions to the Member's Contribution Fund of the Maine Public Employees Retirement System shall be made within the time frame provided by law. Currently, refunds shall be made within sixty (60) days after receipt by the System of an application for refund.

#### **ARTICLE 43. RULES AND REGULATIONS**

In the event of a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and Board policies or

MECDHH/GBSD rules, as they now exist or may be from time to time amended, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply.

#### ARTICLE 44. SABBATICAL LEAVE

#### A. Terms Of Sabbatical Leave

Sabbatical leave shall be for purposes of study, research, or travel that will be beneficial for MECDHH/GBSD and will enhance the knowledge and/or enrich the professional experience of the applicant. Such leave may be granted under the following terms and conditions:

- 1. Sabbatical leave may be granted for a period not to exceed one fiscal year. Sabbatical Leave is unpaid. In order to be eligible for sabbatical leave one must have five years of continuous employment at MECDHH/GBSD.
- All health and dental insurance benefits currently in effect at the time of the Board's approval of the sabbatical leave shall be granted to the employee for the length of the sabbatical. No changes to health and dental benefits, other than those resulting from life events, can be made after the Board's approval. The employee will continue to be responsible for their co-payment, which must be received in full by MECDHH/GBSD prior to leaving on the sabbatical. Sick, vacation, and personal leave balances would remain at the same levels while on sabbatical. They would not accrue while on sabbatical. There would be no break in service for calculating seniority while on sabbatical.
- 3. Employees granted sabbatical leave shall, before the beginning of said leave, enter into a written agreement with MECDHH/GBSD that upon termination of sabbatical leave the employee shall return to MECDHH/GBSD for one (1) year of employment. If the employee chooses not to return for that year, the employee will return the cost of the sabbatical health insurance benefits in full, pro-rated if applicable, to MECDHH/GBSD, within sixty (60) days of the termination of the sabbatical leave, unless otherwise agreed to.
- 4. Upon completion of the sabbatical leave the employee shall provide a written summary and presentation of the work undertaken during sabbatical leave to the Administration. During sabbatical, the employee will be expected to make scheduled contact with their supervisor regarding the work they are doing while on sabbatical.

### B. Application and Approval

- 1. No later than December 1st of each school year prior to the date of the requested leave, the employee shall submit to the Executive Director a written proposal outlining the duration and purpose for which the sabbatical leave is sought. In unusual circumstances the deadline may be waived. Sabbatical leave is not to exceed one (1) fiscal year from when it starts.
- The Executive Director will bring their recommendation as to whether or not the sabbatical should be granted to the Board at their February Board Meeting. It is at that

meeting that a presentation will be made regarding the requested sabbatical. The Executive Director will forward the employee a written statement of approval or disapproval of the leave, with reasons for the decision, no later than March 1st

3. No more than one employee may be on sabbatical at the same time.

#### C. Return from Leave

1. After completion of sabbatical leave, or any period thereof, the employee shall be entitled to return to their previous position. If the employee's position has been abolished during any such leave, they shall be notified and allowed to exercise their rights under Article 45 of this agreement.

#### ARTICLE 45. SCHOOL VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

- 1. No employee shall be required to operate any MECDHH/GBSD vehicle or equipment which is unsafe. An employee shall not be subject to any penalty or disciplinary action because of failure or refusal to operate or handle any equipment which they reasonably believes to be in an unsafe condition. In any such circumstance an employee shall call the matter to the immediate attention of their supervisor for proper action.
- 2 MECDHH/GBSD will ensure that all MECDHH owned or leased passenger vehicles will be equipped with studded snow/winter tires by or on Nov. 1st of each year.

#### ARTICLE 46. SENIORITY, REDUCTION OF FORCE AND VACANCIES

#### A. Definition

- 1. (a) Seniority for the purposes described herein is defined as continuous employment since the last date of hire. Employees shall attain seniority upon completion of their probationary period retroactive to the date of initial hire. When two or more employees have the same length of continuous employment, the employee with the greater total length of employment in the bargaining unit shall be deemed to have the greater seniority. When two or more employees have the same length of total employment in the unit, the employee with the greater total teaching and/or relevant employment experience (used in placement on the salary scale) shall be deemed to have the greater seniority.
- (b) When calculating seniority, a part-time employee's years of service will be pro-rated based on full-time equivalent (FTE) status.
- 2 Seniority shall be broken only as provided in paragraph 4 of this Section. An employee shall continue to accrue seniority during any period while they are on layoff and subject to the recall provisions of this Article, during military leave, leaves occasioned by incapacity from work and during any period of an authorized leave of absence except those pursuant to the Unpaid Personal Leaves of Absence Article.

- Lists of employees by seniority in their current classifications and impact area shall be posted on the appropriate MECDHH/GBSD bulletin boards by October 1st each year and shall be provided to MSEA simultaneously. MSEA must notify the Executive Director within 30 calendar days of any disagreements with the list. Any changes to the list, other than those changes resulting from the disposition of disagreements reported during the review period will be made with the approval of the Executive Director.
  - 4. An employee shall lose their seniority if they:
    - (a) Voluntarily resigns;
    - (b) Is dismissed for just cause;
    - (c) Is laid off and not recalled for work within two (2) years from the date of layoff;
    - (d) Fails to return to work or supply a satisfactory reason for not reporting within five (5) workdays of being recalled to work from layoff. Written notice of recall shall be sent by regular mail to the employee's last known address.
    - (e) Fails to return after a leave of absence;
    - (f) Is a probationary employee who is not nominated for another contract or a continuing contract employee who is non-renewed.
- 5. Layoffs and recalls to work for a period of three (3) working days or less are temporary and not subject to the provisions of this Article.

#### B. Impact Areas

The following impact areas shall be used:

- i. Grade Pre-K Teachers
- ii. Grade K-8 Teachers
- iii. High School Teachers(9-12)
- iv. Social Workers
- v. Information System Support Specialists
- vi. Coordinators
- vii. ASL Specialists
- viii. Occupational Therapists
- ix. Speech Language Pathologists
- x. Educational Audiologists
- xi. Early Interventionists
- xii. Outreach Providers
- xiii. Special Education Specialist

Employees who work in more than one impact area will be listed in the impact area in which they spend the most time in the regular day. The Board has the right to establish and add a new impact area for any new program which does not fit into an existing area.

### C. Layoffs

When the Board determines that a reduction in force is necessary, implementation of that reduction in force will proceed as follows:

- (1) If the Board is contemplating the elimination of any bargaining unit positions, MSEA will be notified. The Board will meet and consult with MSEA upon request prior to a decision to eliminate any bargaining unit position(s).
- (2) The Board determines which positions in each impact area are to be abolished or funding eliminated.
- (3) The least senior employee(s) in the affected impact area shall be laid off except as modified hereafter. The least senior employee in an impact area may be retained and a more senior employee laid off when the least senior employee has more qualifications and ability than a more senior employee relative to the programs and services to be offered. Such comparison shall be made in inverse order of seniority. In such instance, the first employee who has fewer qualifications and abilities than the least senior employee shall be the employee laid off.
  - (a) Qualifications and abilities referred to above shall be determined by certifications, training (courses, workshops, etc.), licensure which meet the program/service needs in the impact area, advanced degrees related to program/service needs, experience (within or outside MECDHH/GBSD); and contributions to MECDHH/GBSD.
  - (b) The application of qualifications and abilities referred to above shall be determined by the Board and shall not be subject to review except for arbitrary and capricious action.
- (4) More senior employees who occupy positions that are abolished or for which funding is eliminated will be offered reassignment to any vacant positions in other impact areas, in order of seniority, provided they are qualified and able to perform the duties of the position they select.
  - (5) A part-time employee cannot displace a full-time employee.

#### D. Notice of Layoff

Employees to be affected by pending layoff shall be given written notice as soon as practicable but at least ninety (90) calendar days before the effective date of the layoff. Copies of any notices from MECDHH/GBSD to employees under this provision shall be given simultaneously to MSEA.

#### E. Recalls

A recall register shall be established for each impact from which any employee has been laid off. An employee who is notified of layoff will be placed on the recall register for their impact area. Any vacancy occurring in that impact area shall be offered first to the employees on the recall register. Recalls to work shall be made as follows:

(1) To the most senior employee in the impact area who possesses the qualifications to perform the duties of the position;

Employees who refuse recall shall be removed from the recall register.

#### F. Filling Vacancies

The Board agrees to give notice of vacancies in the bargaining unit and to consider the applications of internal candidates from the bargaining unit for vacant positions as follows:

- (1) All vacancies shall be posted for ten (10) workdays. Postings will be made at all MECDHH/GBSD locations, on MECDHH/GBSD website and on the employee portal. Notice of vacancies shall include a description of the job, pay rate, required qualifications and abilities, and application deadline and requirements.
- (2) Any employee wishing to be considered for the vacancy shall comply with the applicable application deadline and requirements.
- (3) All qualified employees within the bargaining unit who apply for a vacancy shall be given the opportunity for an interview.
- (4) The Executive Director's decision as to who shall fill a vacancy shall be final.

# G. Health Insurance Coverage for Laid off Employees

Employees who have been laid off shall be eligible to participate at their cost in group health insurance as allowed by the health insurance contract and/or law at that time. Employees who desire to maintain group health insurance in accordance with this Article must so notify the Director of HR in writing as provided by the law in effect at the time of the layoff. Failure to make payments as required shall result in cancellation of insurance.

#### ARTICLE 47. SEVERABILITY

In the event that any Article, section or portion of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable by final decision of a tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or shall have the effect of a loss to MECDHH/GBSD of funds or property or services made available through state or federal law, then such specific Article, section or portion specified in such decision or which is in such conflict or having such effect, shall be of no force and effect. Upon the issuance of such decision, if either party requests, the parties shall negotiate a substitute for such specific Article, section, or portion thereof, provided that the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. The parties agree to use their best efforts to contest any such loss of state or federal funds which may be threatened.

#### ARTICLE 48. SICK LEAVE

#### Section A. Sick Leave

1. Sick leave credit shall be earned at the rate of seven (7) hours per calendar month of service. Sick leave shall be earned from the employee's first date of work. Sick leave credit shall be earned for any month in which the employee has been in pay status for ten (10) or more workdays.

A part-time employee shall earn sick leave in the same proportion as their part-time service bears to full-time service. For new hires only, they shall receive two (2) days of sick credit leave upon hire. These days are to be considered "front-loaded" or issued in advance. Upon reaching their third month of employment and having been in pay status for ten (10) or more workdays in that third month they shall again be eligible to earn sick leave credit.

An employee may accumulate unused sick leave up to a maximum of one thousand forty (1040) hours. However, the amount of unused sick leave accruals which can be credited towards MECDHH/GBSD service for retirement purposes shall be seven hundred twenty (720) hours. When the maximum limitation has been accumulated, hours that would normally thereafter be earned shall lapse but shall be recorded by the Human Resources Office. Any employee who has such lapsed sick leave to their credit may apply to the Executive Director to have up to one hundred forty (140) hours of the sick leave restored in the event of an extended illness. The Executive Director at their discretion may authorize restoration of such lapsed sick leave after thorough investigation, including complete medical reports of the illness requiring the continued absence of the employee. The Executive Director's decision regarding the use of lapsed sick leave shall be final.

Sick leave may be used for illness, necessary medical or dental care that cannot be scheduled during non-work hours, or other disability of the employee. Sick leave must be used in half (1/2) hour increments and a minimum of one (1) hour must be used for each absence. -Seventy (70) hours of sick leave per year may be used for a member of the employee's immediate family which requires the attention or presence of the employee. Immediate family as used in this Article shall mean the employee's spouse or partner, the parents of the spouse, the parents, stepparents, guardian, children, stepchildren, brothers, stepbrothers, sisters, stepsisters, wards, grandparents and grandchildren of the employee. For the purposes of this Article, "partner" means that a relationship exists between two people, neither of whom is married, that is intended to remain indefinitely and where there is joint responsibility for each other's common welfare, there are significant shared financial obligations, and there is a shared primary residence. This relationship must have existed for at least one (1) continuous year before benefits under this Article may be provided.

Employees shall consult with the Human Resources Office to determine if they are eligible for benefits available under the federal or state family medical leave statutes. A medical examination or doctor's certificate may be required on account of use of sick leave for five (5) or more consecutive workdays, or because of repeated absences on days preceding or days following a holiday or weekend. When a medical examination or doctor's certificate is required on account of use of sick leave in excess of five (5) consecutive workdays, MECDHH/GBSD shall pay the difference between the cost of obtaining such certificate and the amount covered by insurance.

- 3. Notifications of absence under the provisions of this Article shall be given as soon as possible on the first day of absence or as soon thereafter as circumstances permit.
- 4 Any employee returning from layoff shall have the unused sick leave accrued as of the time of layoff restored upon their reinstatement.

Section B. Sick Leave Bank

The purpose of the sick leave bank is to provide potential additional sick time for members who, because of serious prolonged illness or unexpected necessary medical care have (or will as a result of their medical condition) exhausted their accumulated sick leave. The intent of the sick leave bank is not for use of common colds, flu, or elective surgery. Similarly, sick leave bank days will not be used for maternity leave, barring extenuating medical complications.

The bank will be administered by a committee composed of two representatives from Management and two representatives designated by MSEA. A majority vote of the committee shall be required for any days to be granted. The committee shall report to the Board, the Association and the employees annually, indicating the use of the sick leave bank. The committee may submit recommendations for modification to the operation of the sick leave bank to the Board and the Association. If the recommendations are ratified by the Board and the Association, the recommendations shall be implemented.

In order to participate in the sick bank one must be covered by a collective bargaining agreement or be a confidential employee. Participation is voluntary; however, one must initially donate seven (7) hours of sick leave to the bank to join. Open enrollment is from September 1st to October 1st of each year. New hires can join the bank within 30 days of becoming eligible to earn sick time.

Employees will continue to donate on a rotating basis, alphabetically, until the bank is built up to a minimum of three hundred and twenty (320) hours. After donating the minimum of seven (7) hours an employee can pass and the rotation will continue until the bank reaches the minimum of three hundred and twenty (320) hours. Employees at any time may donate excess sick time hours over one thousand forty (1,040) that would normally otherwise lapse.

Employees who are retiring from the MECDHH/GBSD may donate sick time over seven hundred and twenty hours, which is the maximum amount that can be credited towards MECDHH/GBSD service for retirement purposes.

Any employees resigning from MECDHH/GBSD may donate their unused sick time to the bank.

The maximum accrual for the bank will be four hundred and eighty (480) hours. However, the bank can exceed the maximum accrual in order to accommodate each qualified employee that wants to be a member of the sick leave bank.

If the bank stays at the maximum there will be no need to replenish the bank. If it drops below the minimum it will need to be replenished. It will be replenished in the same manner in which it was established starting with the next person on the alphabetical list.

Minimum withdrawal per participant from the bank is twenty-one (21) hours annually. The maximum withdrawal per participant from the bank is one hundred and - forty (140) hours annually.

Sick leave bank hours may be used for the necessary medical care of a member of the employee's immediate family which requires the attention or presence of the employee. Immediate family for the purposes of the sick leave bank shall mean spouse, partner, child, parents, or other dependents living in the employee's home for whom they are the primary caregiver.

A part-time employee may participate in the bank and make a pro rata donation of sick leave hours to the bank and, if a request is granted, shall receive pro rata benefits.

If the sick leave bank does not reach the minimum hours required the bank will cease to exist for that school year.

A person withdrawing from membership from the bank will not be able to withdraw their contributions.

## ARTICLE 49 STORM AND SCHOOL CLOSURE DAYS

The Parties agree that employee safety is a top priority and the intent of this article is to ensure that employees should not be required to travel in unsafe driving conditions.

### 1. Year-Round Employees

When Mackworth Island pre-school is closed due to hazardous weather conditions, year-round employees (other than the snow removal crew) will be allowed to work remotely while the hazardous traveling conditions exist.

If there are bona fide reasons that prevent a year-round employee from working remotely on a hazardous weather closure day (such as child care issues) the employee may utilize available personal days, accrued comp time, or vacation days. In such circumstances, the employee shall notify her/her supervisor of their absence in a timely fashion and shall designate her/her election on their time card.

In extreme hazardous weather conditions, the Executive Director may direct employees not to report to work and not to work remotely, and employees shall be paid their regular compensation for the day.

# 2. School Year Employees

Program/MECDHH/GBSD affiliated employees will follow the closing procedures in place at the school/office at which they are assigned.

# ARTICLE 50. UNION MEMBERSHIP AND DUES DEDUCTION

### A. Union Membership

- 1. Membership in MSEA-SEIU is not a condition of employment with MECDHH/GBSD.
- 2. Employees in positions covered by this Agreement may become members in MSEA-SEIU or drop their membership at any time, including during their first six (6) months of employment, by providing a written request to MSEA-SEIU.

- 3. MSEA-SEIU is solely responsible for processing any change to membership status.
- 4. MSEA-SEIU shall promptly notify MECDHH/GBSD of any validly executed membership application or request to drop membership.
- 5. In the event that MECDHH/GBSD receives a membership application or a request to drop membership directly from an employee, it shall promptly forward such application or request to MSEA-SEIU for processing.
- 6. It may take up to four (4) weeks to process a validly executed membership application or request to drop membership.

#### B. Payroll Deduction

- 1. MSEA-SEIU shall have exclusive rights to payroll deduction of membership dues, premiums for current MSEA-SEIU sponsored insurance programs, and voluntary contributions to Political Action by Service Employees and Retirees ("PASER"). Deductions for other programs may be mutually agreed to by the parties.
- 2. MECDHH/GBSD agrees to deduct MSEA-SEIU membership dues, insurance premiums, and contributions to PASER from the pay of those employees, including employees in their first six (6) months of employment, who execute a revocable written authorization for such payroll deductions, including electronic authorizations executed in accordance with Maine's Electronic Signature law, 10 M.R.S. 89407.
- 3. Employees who have already authorized such deductions shall not be required to submit new authorizations upon the execution of this Agreement.
- A validly executed authorization for payroll deduction is an agreement between the employee and MSEA-SEIU. MECDHH/GBSD agrees that it shall rely solely upon MSEA-SEIU for notice of such authorizations or cancellations or changes thereto.
- 5 MSEA-SEIU shall notify MECDHH/GBSD, through the applicable agency payroll clerk, or any such authorizations, cancellations, or changes thereto.
- 6 It may take up to four (4) weeks to process a validly executed authorization for payroll deduction or cancellations or changes thereto.
- 7. Any change in the amounts to be deducted shall be certified to the Director of Human Resources by the Treasurer of MSEA-SEIU at least thirty (30) days in advance of the change. The aggregate deductions of all employees shall be submitted to MSEA-SEIU together with an itemized statement as soon as practicable but no later than ten (10) workdays after such deductions are made.

#### C. Indemnification

MSEA-SEIU shall indemnify and hold MECDHH/GBSD harmless against any and all claims, suits, orders, or judgments brought or issued against the Judicial Branch as the result of the action taken or not taken by the Judicial Branch under the provisions of this Article.

## ARTICLE 51. UNPAID PERSONAL LEAVES OF ABSENCE

1. Any employee may apply for an unpaid personal leave of absence. Leave pursuant to this provision may be for a period not exceeding twelve (12) months. Such leave may be granted at the sole discretion of the Board when the Board determines the leave is profitable to

MECDHH/GBSD, essential to the well-being of the employee, and the Board is able to secure a replacement for the employee for the leave period. Employees must consult with Human Resources to determine if they are eligible for benefits available under the state or federal family medical leave statutes if the request for leave is related to personal or family illness. Any personal leave of absence that also qualifies for federal or state family and medical leave must be taken concurrent with FMLA leave and will be paid to the extent that the employee has accrued paid leave. The balance of the personal leave of absence will be unpaid. Except during any period covered by the use of applicable paid leave and/or federal FMLA, retention of insurance benefits shall be at the employee's expense.

- All requests for such leave and responses shall be in writing. The application for leave must specifically state the reasons for such application and the length of time requested. The employee is required to notify the Executive Director by a pre-determined date whether or not they will return to work. If the employee does not provide the required notification, they will be deemed to have resigned their position.
- After completion of a period of personal leave of absence, the employee shall be entitled to return to their previous position or a comparable position. If the employee's position is abolished during any such leave, they shall be notified and allowed to exercise their rights under Article 45 of this Agreement.
- Any leave of absence granted pursuant to this Article may be canceled by the Board at any time for good reason upon written notice to the employee by certified mail to the last address supplied by the employee, specifying a reasonable date of termination of the leave and the reason for cancellation.
- 5. If the leave of absence is for medical reasons, the Executive Director may, from time to time, require the employee to submit a certificate from the attending physician or a designated physician. If a certificate from a physician other than the attending physician is required, MECDHH/GBSD shall pay the difference between the cost of obtaining such certificate and the amount covered by insurance.

### ARTICLE 52. USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

Where there is available appropriate meeting space in buildings used by MECDHH/GBSD, MSEA shall be allowed reasonable use of such space at reasonable times for specific meetings, including space suitable for meetings in private between MSEA staff representatives or stewards and employees in the investigation and processing of grievances. Advance arrangements for the use of MECDHH/GBSD facilities shall be made with the Executive Director or their designee, consistent with applicable Board policies and rules concerning use of facilities. MSEA shall reimburse MECDHH/GBSD for any additional expense incurred in allowing use of such space. No other employee organization, except such as have been certified or recognized as the bargaining agent for other MECDHH/GBSD employees, shall have the right to meeting space in MECDHH/GBSD facilities for purposes pertaining to terms and conditions of employment of employees.

The use of MECDHH/GBSD facilities for meetings shall be in non-work areas or where work

is not in progress. Other than meetings in private between MSEA staff representatives or stewards and employees in the investigation and processing of grievances, all meetings in MECDHH/GBSD facilities shall be during the off-duty time of employees attending and, in all instances, attendance shall be voluntary. Arrangements for any meetings in MECDHH/GBSD facilities will be made so as to avoid interference with MECDHH/GBSD's operations and/or educational program, or violation of MECDHH/GBSD's security program.

### **ARTICLE 53. VACATION**

1. The Information Systems Support Specialist is eligible for vacation. Employees eligible for vacation shall earn it on the following basis. Seven (7) hours shall be earned for each completed full month of service during the first year of service with MECDHH/GBSD. Thereafter, providing continuous employment, vacation will be earned as follows

- 2. Employees shall be entitled to use vacation leave credits at times that do not conflict with the operational or educational needs of MECDHH/GBSD. Requests for use of vacation leave credits shall not be unreasonably denied. In the event of conflict among employees in scheduling such vacation leave, seniority shall govern.
  - 3. Except in cases of emergency, no employee shall be required to work during vacation.
- 4. Employees shall be paid a vacation advance for scheduled periods of vacation of one (1) week or more provided they submit written requests for such advance three (3) weeks prior to the pay day on which they want to receive payment.
- 5. Time during which an employee is excused from work because of holidays or other leave with pay shall be considered as time worked for the purpose of computing vacation leave credit.
- 6. Employees with fewer than four (4) years of continuous MECDHH/GBSD service shall be entitled to accumulate one hundred sixty (160) hours of unused vacation; employees with four (4) to fewer than eleven (11) years of continuous service shall be entitled to accumulate two hundred (200) hours of unused vacation; employees with eleven (11) to fewer than sixteen (16) years of continuous service shall be entitled to accumulate two hundred forty (240) hours of unused vacation; employees with sixteen (16) to fewer than twenty (20) years of continuous service shall be entitled to accumulate two hundred eighty (280) hours of unused vacation; and employees with twenty (20) or more years of continuous service shall be entitled to accumulate three hundred twenty (320) hours of unused vacation. Employees will be paid for any accrued vacation leave upon separation of employment.

#### ARTICLE 54. WORK RULES

The Executive Director may change or adopt work rules during the term of this Agreement but such changed or adopted work rules shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this

Agreement. Whenever such work rules are to be changed or adopted, they shall be posted on bulletin boards for seven (7) days before they are to become effective, except in an emergency. Simultaneously with such posting a copy of same shall be forwarded to MSEA. Upon request by MSEA, the Executive Director or their designee will meet and consult with MSEA on the proposed changed or new rules.

## ARTICLE 55. WORK STOPPAGE AND SLOWDOWN

Employees within the bargaining unit, MSEA and its officers at all levels, agree that they will not instigate, promote, sponsor, condone or engage in any work stoppage, sympathy work stoppage or slowdown.

"Work stoppage" means a concerted failure by employees to report for duty, a concerted absence of employees from work, a concerted stoppage of work, or a concerted slowdown in the full and faithful performance of duties by a group of employees.

The officers of MSEA, at all levels individually and collectively, agree that it is their continuing obligation and responsibility to maintain compliance with this Article, including the remaining at work during any interruption or slowdown of work which may take place.

### ARTICLE 56. WORKERS' COMPENSATION

MECDHH/GBSD shall make every possible effort to promptly pay all compensation awards in accordance with the decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission. Upon each award of the Workers' Compensation Commission, interest shall be assessed from the date on which the petition is filed at a rate of six percent (6%) per year, provided that if the prevailing party at any time requests and obtains a continuance for a period in excess of thirty (30) days interest will be suspended for the duration of the continuance. From and after the date of the decree, interest shall be allowed at the rate of ten percent (10%) per year.

Where an employee has been unable to work for one year, the employee may be terminated from his or her position. Such termination shall not be considered disciplinary in any way. If the employee later becomes capable of performing the job duties of the position from which they was terminated, the employee may return to that position if it is vacant. If that position is filled, unfunded, or no longer exists, then the employee shall be entitled to be placed in a vacant position or the next available position if no such vacancy exists in the same classification for which the employee is qualified, and shall be treated as if on layoff status.

Prior to possible termination after one year on compensation, an employee will receive at least a ninety (90) day notification of the termination process and, at the same time, will be requested to provide an updated, current medical report which assesses their ability or tolerance to return to their last position. Should the medical report indicate potential fitness to return to work in the position formerly held within six (6) months of the employee's one (1) year date on workers' compensation, the termination date will be projected ahead to the specified date in the medical report, but in no case, for a period of more than six (6) months on a "one-time only basis". The termination date will then become the date established beyond the one (1) year anniversary and will become the automatic date of termination unless the employee returns to work able to perform the duties of the job. However, reasonable accommodations will be made for employees who are disabled.

If an employee who is terminated pursuant to this Article is eligible for and makes application for disability retirement, MECDHH/GBSD shall continue to provide group health insurance in accordance with the terms of this contract until the employee receives their first disability retirement check or until six (6) months after the termination, whichever occurs first.

In the event that any employee who has been terminated pursuant to this Article regains a work capacity and returns to work, the employee shall not lose the benefit of any prior years of MECDHH/GBSD service immediately preceding their termination, for purposes of seniority, vacation accrual rate (if applicable) and restoration of sick leave credits.

### ARTICLE 57. DUTY-FREE LUNCH

Whenever practicable, all employees in the unit shall receive a duty-free lunch of thirty (30) minutes.

## ARTICLE 58. HOURS AND WORK SCHEDULES

- 1. Each employee shall be provided with their work assignment and work schedule with the understanding that either may be modified to meet the operational needs of MECDHH/GBSD.
- 2. Every practical effort will be made to equitably treat employees whose jobs require that they work irregular or frequently changed hours, shifts orworkweeks.
- 3. An employee will be given at least twenty-one (21) calendar days' notice prior to the effective date of the change in their individual schedule unless emergency developments preclude the possibility of such notice.
- 4. All times during which an employee is required to be on active duty shall be considered hours worked.
- 5. Employees who perform excessively dirty work or who work with toxic or noxious material shall be allowed five (5) minutes personal wash-up time before regularly assigned meal periods and at the end of theirworkday.
  - 6. School year employees will follow the school year calendar.
- 7. Full time school year professional staff will work a minimum of 35 hours over a five-day work week, weekly.
- 8. Professional staff members will be required to attend all after school and before school meeting scheduled for program, student, and organizational purposes.
- 9. Teachers, therapists, and specialists are required to arrive 15 minutes prior to the scheduled student arrival time at their worksite. They are required to depart no earlier than 15 minutes after the scheduled student departure time at their worksite.
- 10. Teachers, therapists, and specialists assigned to the preschool program are required to arrive 15 minutes prior to the scheduled student arrival time. The preschool has varied end times for students. Therefore, end time schedules will be determined in conjunction with the Department head.
- 11. In recognition of the fact that ECFS/PSO staff are often required to work non-traditional hours, daily start and end times may vary depending on program and student needs. Therefore, end time schedules will be determined in conjunction with Department head.
  - 12. Part time staff will work the hours specified per their individual contract.
  - 13. Part time staff are required to arrive a minimum of 15 minutes prior to the start of

their scheduled work time with students. They are required to depart a minimum of 15 minutes after their scheduled work time with students.

14. Part time staff will attend the all-staff meetings.

#### ARTICLE 59. TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be effective from July 1, 2023 through and including June 30, 2025. Either party shall give 120 days' written notice of a desire to negotiate a new collective bargaining agreement or to modify this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE 60. CERTIFICATIONS

All employees in the bargaining unit have the responsibility to provide proof of certifications and licenses to MECDHH/GBSD upon request.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective representatives.

# MAINE SERVICE EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION - SEIU, PROFESSIONAL AND SUPERVISORY BARGAINING UNIT

(Salah)	_	12/07/2023	
Katherine Duncan, Union Steward	Date:	12/0//2023	
Chunga With	Date:	12/5/2023	
Timothy MeGuire, Chief Negotiator	2-46		

MAINE EDUCATIONAL CENTER FOR THE DEAF AND HARD OF HEARING/GOVERNOR BAXTER SCHOOL FOR THE DEAF

Karen Hopkins, Executive Director	Date:
Mike Pulsifer  Mike Pulsifer	Date: 1-4-24

Mill COSH H
Approximate Barley Books (1900), P.B.Y., P.B.C., LTT, BLC., CDT, Books Virinfoat Branch (1901), P.B.Y., P.B.C., LTT, BLC., CDT, Books Virinfoat Branch (1901), M. Anderson (19

2,920,02 55.88 2,903,64 /5,484,65 2,724.12 70,031.12 2,0010,00 75,104,70 51,54 2,539,36 96,023,38 2,754.74 71,823.14 2,598.08 87,166.24 2,742.74 71,871.26 58,23 3,077,88 80,024,35 8,224.52 9,224.52 90,000 2,000,00 00,797,00 2,823,20 2,611,57 67,000,63 1,048.00 72,73.03 2,834.97 48.15 2,622.07 86,887.39 61.43 2,872.68 19,481.75 54.25 2,819.07 78,295.79 57.51 2,000.21 77,603.66 10.97 2,048,09 68,005,10 54.02 2,808.73 72,975.01 66.97 70,984.59 90,38 3,127.78 81,082.47 2,007.67 \$1.40; 2,/41,08 71,288,37 50.04 2,406,40 84,100.87 51.46 2,885,51 85,023.23 94.28 2,674.50 89,537.93 48.58 2.383.08 62.233.38 49.90 2,481 48 84,008.94 82,79 2,596,60 87,511,58 2,752.45 7,1697.85 27.10 2,440,40 10,40,40 47 th 2,542,70 16,319.72 52.00 2,730.00 71,100.00 2,774.00 71,000.00 68,311 7,877,98 74,722,91 46.78 2,489.12 63,417.20 47.1/ 2,223.MI 80,420,79 40.51 2,289 BH 62,138.07 51.17 2,620.87 86,646.32 54.24 2,677.23 88,478.05 45.77 2,578.15 61,831,77 4,8.48 2,518.16 65,497.70 2,667.24 2,667.24 39,098.31 2,816 mg 78,283,62 2,780.70 2,780.36 72,548.61 2,583,74 60.91 2,545.61 56,785.86 2,557,57 /A,6188,30 48.06 2,423.60 63,021 87 47,10 7,320,36 80,320,10 2,447,36 2,447,36 83,838,24 2294.40 27.454.41 2,200.88 80,030 84 44.42 2,300 00 91,570 10 47 NY 2,446,77 62,580,14 49.46 2,579.86 77,078.87 12.13 2,700.06 70,433,62 2.671,672 A,888.An 47.06 2,508.48 66,270.64 2,734.64 71,100.80 2,447,535 52,447,535 52,535,535 47.10 2,327.35 60,328.10 52.00 2,554.40 67,464.41 2,300 BB 47.by 2,446.77 53,568.14 48.65 2,578.45 6/,076.63 40.45 2.358,50 88,782,48 2,384.08 7,384.08 71,570,10 7.008.40 Pr./271.004 7,075.00 27,075.00 28,021.37 2,744.08 70,425.67 SEN SE 2,734.64 7,100.88 41,14 2,241 83 34,787,38 45.68 2,435,47 63,2271 91 43.16 2,128.67 55,283.63 48.77 7,782.77 58,671.86 46.23 2,7/6.26 61,767.78 51,72 2,614,84 65,489,73 48,70 2,374,64 81,737,89 2,804,71 85,172,86 51 10 2,654.00 69,023.00 2,482,74 2,482,74 04,687,38 60,480 2,630,00 68,382,04 2,787 88 72,494.88 42.18 2,700.11 59,775,78 51.12 7,618.84 66,489.73 43.18 2,128.87 55,293,53 2,3,15,78 81,787,78 43.14 2,241.63 66,262.86 45.70 2.374.54 64.737,30 45,72 7,280,77 80,671,86 48.20 2.504.71 85,127.36 51.10 2,654.90 R1,029.40 45.20 2,745.30 61,146778 47.98 2,493.74 64,637.38 50 62 2,850,08 88,387,04 43 13 2,798,11 45.88.42 (24.307 m) 41.60 2,044 78 50,164 27 48.18 7,423.76 63,017.73 40.3A 2,410.16 02,604.24 2,167,92 Majaca,17 46.41 2780.by 50.46.h mb 41 48 2,195.31 00,038.00 43.87 49.17 2,554.77 58,691.11 43.86 2282.87 04,634.57 46.17 2,389.20 62,379,24 48.70 2450.74 01,798.23 61,85 2,482,58 08,747,20 414/ 2210.67 57,474.87 2343 48.17 2,654.77 86,424.11 2.16.7 62 2.16.7 62 66,767,17 48.41 2,780.67 50,480.60 48.19 2,423.78 18,017.73 46.36 2,410.16 62,064.24 45.70 2,530.74 15,780.23 41 48 2,155.31 56,038.00 226478 E-494.88 40.05 2,202.67 (6,09.47) 48.17 2,309.20 17,219.24 2002 St. 75/30 41.A7 2.210 by 67,444.87 43.90 47.81 2,100,13 54,837.28 41.10 2722.22 57.77.187 47 81 2,355 56 81,244 34 40.78 2,000.46 54,434.00 2,222,12 57,801,43 2,240,34 90,000,80 44.99 2,334.12 50.867.04 4/35/ 2,480.18 E0,984.56 40 28 2.147 33 55,480.64 42.77 47.78 2,482.88 64,544.67 42.30 2,197.78 57,147.38 50.1n 2,507,7s 67,809,43 40,31 1,484,28 42 Bil 2,100.13 14,607.26 48.10 2,222.22 51,777.67 47.81 2724.13 2724.13 57,801.43 47.36 2,400.16 63,301.65 42.77 2.280.14 5.9.262.53 48.0K 2,342.3M 60,800.80 47.70 42.30 2,197.76 57,142.88 용인점 **# 2 2** 2,147,30 5,000 64 9,007,7 07,809,7 2304 41 55 2,047,28 10,741,38 4, 18 2, 17 1, 17 50, 442, 58 48.71 2.301.12 39.829.24 2,033 36 2,033 36 62,867,39 2,134,75 55,403.02 2000 to 12 41.52 2.253.38 57.547.88 1,925.09 1,925.09 50,156.24 41,83 2,158,05 58,702,38 42 44 24 27.88.22 50.48.82 2,67,50 2,67,50 5,582,61 41 E 2548.78 1,929.08 1,929.08 41.05 2,047.38 54,781 85 44 08 2,170.8/ 59,402.08 45.73 2,301.12 89,829.74 2,033,365 41.88 21.58.05 66.100.28 44.04 2,288.72 (9,498.82 46.02 41.08 2.134.78 68,509.62 40.81 2,784.28 18,177 63 2,402.63 48 CH 2,548.78 06,218.40 8 30.02 2.006.00 53,783.07 37.00 1,000.04 3,618.42 40.37 1,000.00 51,710.00 2,112,38 45.45 2.230.12 58,717.08 37.98 2,018.28 24,508.12 42.8tb 46.40 7,360.16 91,363.83 44.90 2,337.64 60,778.12 47.99 2,477.80 64,422.67 37.03 2.027.96 62,560.47 40.3a 2,150.14 65,906.71 2,201.24 2,701.24 5/231.48 340.78 1,809.40 7,046.91 39.21 1,927 08 50,223.64 41,32 2,010,63 53,310,36 44.12. 36.71 78.18 2,030.10 69,838.822 41.80 2,381.47 66,180.31 22/81 18 50,570.22 38.54 2,002.53 \$2,000.53 41 Th 2,538 18 06,680 89 43.68 46.30 2,048,31 64,296,02 5 ½ 3 1,782 to 40 to 10 2,111 PB 2,111 PB 54,003,16 1,807.78 1,807.78 51,317.70 1,872.54 40.41 2,089,82 54,640,20 42.84 1,024 80 1,024 80 80,400.27 2,286,94 (0,788,74 1,000.01 2,024.37 2,024.37 52,633.86 38.78 1,812 09 47,114.41 41 61 2,161 90 (8,208,85 34.37 1,893.15 44,021.90 30,078,016 1,872,016 48,699,27 41,63 2,051,83 53,325,83 2,000,53 2,000,53 63,007,88 2,005 98 52,154.88 1,424,94 1,424,94 50,208,33 24.36 1,784.67 46,401 48 1,910,04 40,861,15 40.79 2,119.85 55,110.88 2,240 83 2,240 83 68,417,48 24.M 1,880.43 47,691.28 1,676.78 48,770.62 38.17 1,778.70 44.818.15 38,056 1,977,16 61,406,78 40.333 2,095,87 54,481.16 38,62 1,754.00 45,627.30 40.36 1,888.34 \$1,885.75 36.60 1,849.76 40,199.06 24.07 1,800.33 47,042.70 39.96 2,076.84 53,071.76 2200.38 2200.38 67,210.06 23.18 1,787.00 45,995.77 35,58 1,897,19 40,325,81 27.28 1,942.24 50,488.33 2048.M 2048.M 64.283.89 37.18 1,932.86 60.246.86 1,702 80 30,45 1,940,55 0,622,41 12,75 1,850 E4 47,572 E0 31.96 1,680.87 43,177.41 1,787.41 1,878.49 39 04 2028.57 82.743.70 41.38 2,1M.78 66,807.27 1,708.78 4,738.435 34.34 47.883.34 47.884.39 30.76 1,588.33 41,588.48 1,728.44 4,887 40 1,677.40 1,007.00 1,007.00 42,006.48 38,06 1,7781.06 46,678.00 37,80 1,842.28 48,416.69 35,04 1,851,61 45,147.08 57.78 1,962.92 51,036.82 1,612.78 47,131 /6 17.45 1,044.96 50,589.58 2,061.18 2,061.18 53,603.74 47,008 1,608,31 47,627 (0) \$8.72 1,770.71 16,038.36 24,48 1,898,00 44,173,99 79,59 1,537,86 38.35 1,882.89 M,810.06 77.5% 1,574.77 40,997.08 32,03 1,5/8 11 11,090,78 36.55 1,800.94 3,824.43 34.48 1,780.84 46,581.78 1,898.20 1,898.20 31,08 1,814 QR 17,898.15 36.18 1,679.90 (8,877.40 37.01 1,063,41 43,248,60 1,748.31 1,748.31 15,403.98 28-27/ 1,482-19 10-188-17 40.00 CM CO. 1,000,00 1,000,00 1,41,627,7 78.47 1,410.82 26,400.48 35.29 1,736.83 45,212.28 30.83 1,618 BB 30,682 R7 28.40 1,475.00 38,309.05 1,728.16 1,728.16 44,958.66 1,984.27 1,484.27 1,816.30 1,816.30 47,708.03 1,024.03 1,024.03 60,038.21 78.85 1,818.48 39,841.63 20.80 1,842,12 42,696.10 KOL 1,001.07 1,001.07 1,007.72 30,80 1,842,12 42,895,10 28.42 1,400 (2) U,400.45 30.63 1,618.88 39,482.97 1,840.80 1,840.80 35.28 1,786.83 46,212.28 28.40 1,478.09 SR,368.0b 33.28 1,728.18 44,858.86 15 2E 1,832 ES 171,888,19 70.81 1,640,00 40,273,00 1,881.77 (5,711.78) 34.84 1,815.80 47.203.03 37.04 1,924.43 90,046,24 28.36 1,819,88 Hourly RW (Pro) Aermel Hourly BIW (Pro) Annual Hourly RW (Pm) Annuel Housty BMW (Ptro) Annual Hourty BMV (Pro) Antuel Heurly Raw (Pro) Amengal Hounty EMV (Pro) Annual Heurly Revy (Pro) Aemond Hourty BIM (Ptc) Annual Heunty (MV (Pro) Annual 883 高部数 田田田 Werter-MA-30 Worter-MA-30 Werter-PHD Werter-PHD Warden-PHD Worter-MA Worter-MA Worter-MA Worter (V) Worter-BA Worter-RA 

	2	25.07 2,678.08 77,430.44	99.22 9,199.70 82,979.25	46.77 2.966.30 90.297.80	2,648.00 76,24.00	3,052.65	58.20 3,236.70 04,128.14	
	1	2,024.24 75,178.16	87,48 8,084,40 79,888,68	47.35 2,647.67 67,279,31	61.41 2,808.62 73,050.07	54.23 2.963.64 77,064.57	57.48 3,141.45 91,677.81	
	<u>60</u>	2,807.14 2,807.14 72,808.91	56,82 2,876,67 77,384,74	46.97 2,912.30 68,510.72	40.91 2,727.78 70,922.40	62,66 2,577.32 74,510.28	3,048,96	
	<u>10</u>	2,72458 70,459	22578.90 78,111.40	44.63 2.538.12 68,417.20	204 20 204 20 20 20 27	61.11 2,783.51 72,831.32	50.18 2031.12 70.900.11	
	<b>X</b>	# 44 M W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W	2,804,76 2,814,86	43.35 2,389.63 61,570,10	47,00 2,671.20 06,881.17	49.62 2.712.15 70,515,64	62.80 2,674.86 74,748.79	
	**	18,445,00 2,645,00 68,785,50	52.81 2,834.78 72,923.89	43.38 2,388.0b 61,570.10	47,08 2,671,20 63,961,17	48.62 2,712.15 70,515,84	52.60 2,674.86 74,745.76	
		48.19 2,888.88 08,782,17	61.08 2,723.07 70,799.70	42.07 2,296.11 59,776.79	46.67 2,496.31 64,804.05	48.16 2,833,16 68,461,97	2,724.14 2,731.14 72,889.69 72,559.69	
		46.19 2,9081.83 80,782.17	61.08 2,723.07 70,780.70	42.09 2,394.16 60,778.79	48.69 2,430.81 84,804.05	48.18 2,633,15 68,481,97		
		48.37 2.477.88 64.277.82	49.18 2,620.28 68,127.29	41.48 2.285.84 68,911.78	43.95 2,401.96 92,480.95	-48.36 2,532,78 65,877.78	48.14 2.886.79 68,830,47	
		2,471.05 54,271.02	49.15 2,620.26 88,127.29	41.48 2,286.84 56,911.76	43,38 2,401.58 62,460.88	48.38 2,533.78 66,877.78	48.14 2,686.79 69,830,47	
		48.00 2,400.40 02,400.40	47.77 2,548,54 66,210.10	40.27 2,201.02 67,226.42	42.70 2,337.14 80,766.61	40,00	47.76 2.810.27 67.885.35	
		46.07 24.0240 42.785.37	47.77 2,648,54 66,210,10	40,27 2,201.02 67,226.42	42.76 2,537.14 80,765.01	2,462,53 2,462,53 64,023,83	47.76 2.610.21 67,865.25	
1		44.03 2,345.89 61,019.10	48.57 2,487.70 84,690.28	38.11 2,137.84 66,678.83	41.81 2,286.72 86,996.85	44,01 2,400.56 82,544,68	48,86 2,540,89 86,297.25	Deta
		44.03 2340.89 91,019.10	46.87 2,487.70 94,587.25	2,137.84	41.61 2,208.72 64,086,86	2,405.38 82,544.58	48,86 2,849,88 66,387,25	
	400	42.84 2200.06 50,374.87	45.41 2,420.67 82,637.37	37.81 2,092.10 63,674.45	40.22 2,20%.00 87,307,50	42.833 2,340,74 69,8871,24	46.40 2.481.18 84.910.00	
	•	41.83 2,218.80 67,838.29	44.08 2,348.91 81,097.67	36.68 2,005.11 52,132.97	28.16 2,140.82 86,058.44	41.58 2272.32 68,080.28	44.07 2,408.65 62,625.10	
	30.	2,168,68 66,993,07	42.82 2,282.86 69,354,77	35.51 1,941.01 50,468;38	57.67 2,074.88 83,946.38	40.39 2,207.50 57,334.85	42.81	
	•	2024 2031.03 54,337.03	41.69 2.217.38 67,630.69	94,258 1,47E,19 48,7E1.03	2,007.10 2,007.10 10,707.10	2,74.0 2,74.0 5,74.0	41.58 2.272.77 56,081.63	The Bayes
	WD 1	2007. 2007.00 201.07.00	2,101,14 2,140,65 54,628,62 55,885,39	31.04 1,745.85 1,812.08 45,381.03 47,114.41	36.450 1,044,61 80,669.99	2,031,76 2,078,69 82,825,83 54,043,02	40.21 2,220.29 67,286.0s	$\mathfrak{m}$
	•	87.18 1,592.21 66.753,10	2,101,14 2,101,14 54,629,62	31.04 1,745.88 45,391.03	1,978.07 48,863.63	37.18 2,031.76 82,825.83	2002.5 2.160.87 2,200.26 63,653.13 16,906.38 67,386.08	(23
	eb .	1,000,20 1,000,20 49,281,03	37.77 2,013.25 52,344.62	30,74 1,680.29 42,667.57	1,044.97 47,162.82	38.02 1,948.76 30,018.16	57.76 2,008.59 53,052.13	759
1,016 45,050-52/11	en i	34.46 1,858.70 47,756.67	38,522 1,946,98 50,527.00	28.57 1,516:19 42,020,87	1,748,71	24.45 1.572.58 48,948.55	73,61 1,836,64 51,886,63	3
Practical Pariod;	Year	23.27 1,778.62 46,111,44	1,679.00 1,878.93 46,674.15 48,978.13	28.39 1,851.37 40,336.63	30,80 1,886,17 43,782,49	33.26 1,817.38 47,294.23	26.26 1,928.85 60,11/0.06	0
		1,72.02 12.07 1,72.02 1,778.03 1,718.04   46,111,44	26.27 1,679.29 48,678.19	28.39 28.39 1,861,37 1,651,37 40,335,89 40,336,63	90,80 30,80 1,682.17 1,888.17 43,782.49 43,782.49	30.20 30.20 1,817.80 1,817.90 47,294.23	35.28 26.20 1,925.63 1,825.83 \$4,100.38	13.
MECORNI Appendin B Salary Scote-TOOPs, EFFS, PSC, PT, SLP, CT, Social Worker MEEA Probessives U.S. Wage Books Assigned	Worth Days	196 Hourly 198 BIW (Pro) 196 Anniel	168 Hounty 168 BAV (Pro) 198 Annel	203 Hourly 203 BM (Pro) 203 Annet	205 Heurly 205 BW (Pro) 203 Annual	203 Hourly 203 EAW (Pro) 203 Amuel	203 Hourty 203 Bow (Pro) 203 Annual	Section 1
Appendix B Salary Scale-1000s, EJFS, PSO, PT, MBEA Probasions (L=2 Wege Booke Ass	Check Wo	A 60 17	***	gu qu qu	Di 64 64	ଶ ମ ମ	444	
MECOPH Appendix B Sulery South-TOO MEEA Prohesoien		MAH-SO MAH-SO MAH-SO	55 55 55	<b>88 88</b>	MA AN	MA+30 MA+30 MA+30	740 740	

alterototet
Appailitä
Billian Billian (1915)
Billian Billian Billian (1915)
Billian Billian Billian (1915)
Billian Billian Billian Billian (1915)
Billian Bill

60 Na 2,633.82 77,089,38 2,796,08 2,796,08 72,867,49 2,837.94 88,578.72 2.794.00 72,644.00 2,447.00 10,007.00 80,12 4,124,03 91,224,73 2,769,04 7,188,04 2,804,30 78,291,73 \$4,004,72 \$1,662,72 \$1,462,001 2, COS.298 70, 807, 15 2,835.07 74,867.01 56.40 2,877.50 74,874.00 48,26 2,530 P2 18,087,28 56.07 2,881.36 74,296.77 51.74 2,888,389 \$2,739 2,602,89 85,001,88 5,573.84 2,673.84 88,972.04 2,714.62 70,850.09 2,640,83 74,080,84 57.82 3,044.68 70,116.06 2,028.00 20,228.00 27.40.23 27.40.23 2,424 60,100,00 22,420,456 06,4224,300 2,700.63 47.86 2,488.23 81,640 QR 2,751.1/ 70,780.88 2,778.01 72,228.37 2,017.00 75,343.75 3,002,00 3,002,00 0,300,87 25 FOR 18 22 2,568.70 PS,NSR.60 2,712.32 70,620.22 40.46 2.413.82 12.788.28 2,1246 Sty. 20,1246 Sty. 20,1246 Sty. 51.91 2,697,10 70,124,63 2,882,10 73,654,71 48.20 2,622.50 68,164.88 3,002,03 50.17 2.807 09 47,786 7 30,00 2,484.26 84,680.78 2,639,32 45.10 2,343 63 00,937,30 47,77 2,460,46 84,143,98 26.36 2.618.56 08,082.17 22.72 2.775 06 77,147 10 2,074,63 7,774,63 240.00 2403.00 50,583.00 22,92 2,748.62 71,490,02 47,79 2,548.11 68,189.65 47.80 2.868.10 61.234.04 2, 85 A TT 2,404.25 04,530.73 52,632,22 2,632,32 38,442,23 46.10 2,343.61 80,4891.80 2519.65 2519.65 98,082.17 2,774,65 76,773,42 27.699.Eb 47,76 2,820.11 59,100.06 2,412.48 43,41 2,158,57 58,122,68 2.28 B 2.28 B 8.400 B 01.ND 2.668.R2 86.477.08 2,275,285 50,100,600 48.23 2,842.78 E3,000.20 SLEEN TO THE SALES 2,531.15 65,818.82 7,004.60 9,407.77 SALAS OT DESALE 2,371.98 84,770.23 2.411.80 2.701.80 A1.89 7,987.02 03,477.03 27.77.25 28.160.60 2,410.15 2,410.15 48.63 2.542.28 68,099.23 \$1 623 7,854,81 70,085,14 2, 111, 56 4071 2,031,16 76,000,60 2,040,60 77,772,80 200 c 3,322,60 3,332,60 50,873,41 2471.20 2477.20 43.81 168.57 47,11 2,320,88 80,342,45 48.90 2,400.17 68.803.00 47.18 2,446.32 69,804.20 42 12 2,076 % 5,041,73 44.00 2.200.14 97.203.54 2,642.10 87,426.47 42.10 2,187.34 59,ff/8.67 42.87.18 2,435.18 44.83 2,210.09 61,274.82 2360.70 2360.70 30,786.22 42.40 2,772.60 76,783.41 44.20 2,780.81 4,5-48.73 08,336.30 44.62) 2,3/4.53 61,841.98 47.11 2,520.46 60,342.45 2,319,00 20,319,00 40,298,00 2200 E 2 2 2 46.30 2.003.10 37,450.47 47.0 to 42.18 2.187.84 se, 8.48 by 2,495,19 2,495,19 63,314,89 40,48 2,28,70 81,785,70 E ANGE 2,072,50 91,941,48 2.288.4 80.717.88 4,745,126 M,544,34 2,392,443 54,3973,443 45.48 7,389,13 81,537,36 2014.00 2014.00 62.714.01 413 415 2,140,70 AU,CM) 92 48 63 2,740 63 47,188 01 2,500 (1) 21,000 (1) 21,000 (1) 47.002,0 2,220.7h 6/,704,162 45.44 2,39-1,24 60,172 73 2,125.00 08,261.41 45,75 2,577,47 81,814,31 20 t/28/18 20 /01/2 A STATE OF THE STA 40,89 K-170,54 80,553.10 12 40.82 2,016.08 41.46 3,1-0.78 67,69997 48,63 2,530,60 82,188,01 2,175 GE 48.73 48 60 2,874,17 78,863 19 2200.78 5700.78 2,369.13 49.03 2.497; Dai 50.00 01.00.00 62.00.00 40.80 2.478.64 55.638.10 2,264.24 20,162.74 80 74 1,98-3.09 0,900 ES 20/8.00 20/8.00 64,030.38 2.47.4 (b) 2.47.4 (c) 2.47.4 (d) 44.17 2,088.58 2,088.58 53,680.40 44.70 3,202.54 60,364.02 47.41 2,335 EH 60,728.00 2,100,00 Malo ao 41.70 2,424.6 44,538.77 44.27 2,300.29 50,607.49 2,428.57 28,455.27 #8.78 2,544.63 CT,208.66 2,918 78 66,0524.50 47.41 2202.48 57,788.30 47.18 2,0.78 63 64,090,73 24 45 20 04 10 40 24 45 04 04 2,180,42 2,180,42 50,500,50 2,527.34 80,348.00 47.85 2,474.80 94,234.36 41,70 1,700,70 17,700,17 42.16 2.342.83 54.551 18 7,700.20 7,700.20 50,507,48 Parish Sta 25.18 2,48.67 59,48.63 ACTION SO 48.18 2,272.70 50,000.30 39.50 22,016.18 28.82 1,647.89 40,247.70 2,018.72 2,018.72 52,488.61 41,152 2,144,08 54,745,58 40.46 21.47 54.77 56.77 56.77 42.45 2.754.68 58.754.84 48. ft 40.41 7,104.42 54,1004.42 2,724,55 2,724,55 84,036,03 2,12,36 42,500 3,372 St 81,687.78 2,014.05 2,014.05 36,048.31 18.18. 14.18.18.2 14.04.04.20 2CN130 30.78 1,580,63 30,7/10,00 44.78 2,200.27 67,263.06 1,240.00 1,240.00 1,240.00 2,028.83.7. 2,028.83.3 36,745.73 4232 44.76 2,721.33 (Q,480.77 75,450,67 76,240,87 2.74 2.74 2.74 2.74 3.74 3.74 \$7.25 1,086.86 5,04.00 41.77 45.44 77.508.7 58,987.40 F 20 27 (석 뛢 1,0000. 10000. 10000. 10000. 10000. 45.00 2,145.00 56,728.71 3,374,03 48,774,03 200 M 218127 548127 564113 45.0.19 22.0.19 79,778.00 97,37 1,587,20 67,178.40 40.42 7, 103.54 14,480.04 2,247.70 2,577.57 21,871.14 1,62021 2,070,12 50,820 tt 1,000,00 5,000,00 47 75. 2, CB 1.89 54, 128.73 1,271.24 1,271.24 14,175,74 1,094.66 40.406.07 42.20 2,184.33 57,052.48 20.13 2,023.05 30,057.23 41.40 44.101.52 53.557.52 43 BO 3.260.00 30,250.74 75.85 1,887.80 47.816.14 18 18 1,877.50 48,878,09 33.07 1,740.86 45,488.89 40.98 2,018.18 82,472.70 2,233,42 2,233,43 64,682,23 41.76.15 52.77.75.88 23.04 1,203.03 40,502.63 20 E E E 2 2 E 1,826.57 1,871.05 1,871.05 4.79.44 4.79.44 4.39.43.43 2,108.5T 232 September 1 7,771.18 44,750.38 1,086.89 1,086.89 2256.50 2256.50 82,633.84 17.77 1.381.70 1.7.70 1,00.71 1,700.71 Territory. ALERA BO A Parity 4.724.8 4.724.8 5.724.8 2,142,63 1,308.74 1,308.74 33.74 1,847.47 48,774.20 28 28 1,890.19 40,144.97 27.25.77 2.74.29.77 1,782.70 46,362.17 1,600.20 1,600.20 1,72,80 28 17 9,8478,63 48,6461,29 1,002.30 1,002.30 51,001.48 17.22 17.22.98 44,277.08 1,420 CS. 1,420 CS. 47,7251.74 37,96 1,874,10 51,826,12 2,000,01 2,000,01 1,787,1 1,787,1 28.00 1,724.48 44,838.80 34.96 1,847.70 1,240.21 37,10 1,827,95 47,528,80 30.03 1,580.41 40,570.74 1,000 to 10.00 27.08 1,928.78 90,095,60 31 63 1,839,78 27,688,84 1,772,800 8,088,000 36.72 1,506.10 10,610.56 1,751,35 2,022.55 33,80 1,886.11 45,712,345 1,980,200 100,780,740 78.84 1,421.00 1,545.00 1,545.00 14,255.14 21,25 1,841 PA 40,0945,30 1,785,02 48,660,44 1,748.12 45,688.03 35.90 1,000.42 48.377.01 36.43 1.342.73 47.111.03 1,487.82 1,487.82 18.90.54 1,672.78 1,672.78 40,878,00 1,738,44 4,387,47 28.62 1,080.23 38,090.11 1,888,78 1,888,78 18,338,53 91.29 1,841.74 10,084,20 1,868.11 1,868.11 36.82 1,755.02 06,880.44 29.83 1,497,83 38,943.67 1,200 DB 1,703.12 1,703.12 45,613.00 \$,708.44 H,237.47 1,842.73 1,842.73 1,741.03/1 37.59 1,958.30 10,748.74 to 18:20 18:20 18:21:01 1,077.22 10,878.00 28.82 1,378.28 11.27 13.25.73 13.23.55 Hourty RNW (First) Antokal Hemby SAV (Ma) Ancial Houth Baw (Pro) Amasal Haunty RAW (Pro) Armicke Hounty BAW (Pro) Arcount Heaty Law (Pro) Medical Houng RVM (Print) Avenuel Houty HW (Fm) Amuni Housty EAW (Pho) Annual Heaty NAM (Ptul) Avenal Hearty IEM (Pro) Anemal Hourly Felt (Pro) Amend Hourly Rew (Pro) Armoni 異権 警 日日報 医岩岩 医育音 226 223 828 まき 32 222 Chockel Whether Aldress
Rectal Washers Aldress
Gentlel WettspealArts Social Worker PHD Social Worker PND Social Weign-FHD Godel Workmalls Besief Worker, MA Boolel Worker MA 

	\$	2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1	011.11 3,204.13 53,307.40	48.80 2,706.28 70,397,15	2,087.22 2,087.22 22,07.23	\$6.00 \$,044.33 80,556.70	9,284,23 8,284,23 85,380,07	
	14	20.84.72 20.84.72 27.72.97	58.36 3,110.81 80,980,87	48.08 2,625.48 68,288.50	2,881.76 2,881.76 74,745.82	56.04 3,008.08 78,210.30	3, 188. Fe	
	Đ.	2, 28 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25	58.86 3,020.20 78,505.21	45.86 2,640.96 66,299.61	2,758,75 7,986,24	2,8211.46 75,822.41	3,006.70 80,488.33	
	ta)	20 81.30 2,705.30 71,502.72	2,932.23 76,238.07	45.30 2,475,71 84,365,48	48.10 2.001.00	51.88 2,836.41 74,729.79	3,006,54 78,144,01	
	*	2,0005.00 2,0005.00 50,027.67	53,40 2,846,63 74,017,86	43.88 2,439,85 62,439,85	47.76 2.602.77 97,853.54	2,752.88 71,578.68	53.89 2.916.00 75,997.96	
	41	16 #0,36 2,486.89 69,627,87	53.40 2,648.83 74,017.56	73,98 2,403.80 62,482.85	47.75 2,509.77 57,987.84	2,872,85 2,752.83 88,488.90 71,872.58	58.30 2,918.00 75,867.53	
	8	48.91 2,807.46 67,794.05	51.85 2,783.91 71,861.70	42.70 2,333.68 80,873.44	48.26 2,523.75 98,677.51		2,833.01 73,838.24	
	型	18 48.51 2,807.46 67,794.05	61,86 2,763,84 71,6851,70	4276 2,338,58 60,678,44	48.30 2,630.78 85,877.81	48.90	51.84 2,838.01 72,838.24	
	12	15 47.07 2,608.04 85,235.08	49.85 2,659.68 69,149.20	42.08 2,308.82 58,798.44	2,437,49 12,437,49 102,387,71	47,08 2,571.77 68,565,86	49.86 2,726.07 70,677,99	
	21	14 47,07 2,808,04 56,238,09	49.86 2,855.68 99,146.20	42.08 2,2360.82 59,785,44	44,81 2,487,86 53,367,71	47.08 2,571,77 68,285.85	49.88 2.728.07 70.877.85	
	F	18 46.74 2,438.43 13,239.31	250474 67,210.25	2,204.05 58,084.62	43.40 1,372.20 81,877.00	46.73 2,488.40 81,964.20	48.48 2,849.25 69,853.33	
	113	12 45.74 2,436.43 63,339.33	46.40 2,884.74 67,208.26	40.88 2,234.03 58,084.62	43.40	45.73 2,486.40 64,964.29	48.46 2,040.30 08,062.33	
	9	11 44.68 2,367.08 17,234,38	47.37 2,526.02 86,660.48	36.70 2.188.70 50.412.21	2,302.73 2,302.73 5,571.45	2,441.64	47.38 2.588.14 67.291,71	Darke
	10	44.57 2.482.00 81,954.38	2,625,02	2,166.70 5,166.70 56,412.21	2302.78 13,871.48	2,441.84 0,442.75	47.38 2,088.14 6 67.291.77	
		42.48 2.2877.00	2,400 lb	2,100,18 2,100,18 64,682,60	46.00 2.2005 E.S. 68,100.584	48.47 2.378.08 61,772.13	48.08 2.518.40 8 65,478.45	
		42.27 2,270.15 39,902.68	2,2965.18 82,014.19	37.26 2,026.18 52,91e.96	2,172,82 26,498.24	2,306.40 89,966.46	2,414.73	
		7, 41,01 2,186,96 38,635,00	42.47	38.06 1,070 13 61,223.38	2,100.10 54,738.62	41.00 2,246.61 56,256.67	43.46 2,378.06 191,751,28	
		2,128.20 86,219.10	40.22 2,230.58 58,516.38	34.84 1,804.24 48,512.78	77.20 2.16.111	24,78,28	4221 2,300.85 58,070.27	
	40	2,011.04 2,0002.05 52,310.45 63,910.75	59,97 25,98,73 40,01 40,89 1,978,17 2,598,48 25,172,78 2,178,178 25,178,02 55,448,03 5	32.42 33.85 1,772.02 1,830.27 48,072.00 47,821.13	1,042.00 1,007.20 1,073.73 47,007.16 49,308.77 61,318.38	94.90 1,910.82 1,975.88 2,972.74 2,982.77 49,882.77 5,982.87	\$7.25 30.32 46.00 40.52 2.026.57 2.086.56 2.185.57 2.286.54 52.084.88 54.657.59 50.185.21 68.144.67	
			40.01 2,132.06 55,448,09		34.90 1,807.28 40,388.77	57.73 2,592.24 55,518.22	30.52 40.00 2,004.64 2,185.97 54,457.99 50,836,21	Mi
	**	25.18 C.007.18 60,622.35	2003.45 2003.45 60,129.03	\$0.01 1,640.43 1,706.30 22,681.28 44,342.84	29,71 1,842,20 47,887,16	31.07 1,975.88 61,875.40	30.52 2.004.64 54,457.93	7
1.916 3124-62077	24	2 24.57 1,576.37 46,472.01	37.00 1,576.17 51,399.23	30,01 1,840,43 42,681,28	1,774,94	34.96 1,910.02 49,682.73	37.06 2,028.67 60,684.83	1/61
brevenno Períod Step	T A	38.77 1,800,12 49,800,11	26.79 1,908.13 49,611.30	28.81 1.574.64 40,840.86	31.28 1,708.42 44,418.83	33.78 1,845.12 47,973.19	35.79 1,885.83 50,861,58	200
		### ##################################	36.79 36.79 1,004.15 1,908.13 48,611.30 49,911.30	28.81 28.81 1,574.84 1,574.84 40,940.88] 40,940.86	31.20 31.20 1,708.42 1,708.42 44,418.83	53.76 1,845.12 1,845.12 47,973.19 47,973.19	36.78 36.79 1,966.89 1,986.83 60,161.68 50,861.88	3
12, CT, Eodel We	Work Days	196 Houdy 198 BWV (Pro) 198 Annuel	106 Houty 106 SW (Pro) 106 Annad	203 Hourly 203 BIW (Pro) 203 Annual	200 Houry 200 BW (Pro) 200 Amuel	203 Hourly 203 BRV (Pro) 203 Amusel	203 Hourty 203 BAV (Pro) 205 Amuel	Karon Hoyanz Karon Hoyanz MECDHH
PSQ, PY, 31.P., Mgo Scale Avelated	Grade Worl	000	***	g- g- g-	81 61 64	~ ~ ~	***	2
MECDIAH Appenda B Sakay Scale-1'00m, Esta, PBQ, PY, SLP, OT, &ocial Wether MESA Proheedined Leid Wage Scale Anstroof	9	MA+30 MA+30 MA+30	2 2 2	8 8 8 8	MA MA	MA+30 MA+30 MA<90	940 940 940	

				8					
	1	2	52,407,12	61.05	1	15.54	96,574.06		
	ā		607.00	2	į.	II.	200		_
				3 (10 80					
			-	80.94 3.180.80					
	100	15							_
	9								
	4	1							
	92		800	2,927,88					
	==			2,367,489					
	*	17.00	(Mp.ca.19	2,618.00		284.00	74,678,78		
	2	96							
	80	40.14	06,783,45	\$2,708.21	10,756,01	2,754.21	E BOT C	0070	
	=	2.00	00.200,45	2,704,81	State T Action	27042	The state of	46.20	
	9			2				25mm	September 1
		2,382.21							
		45.78							
	<b>~</b>	3							
	-	3							
	IIP	2000		2,121,86	8	2		2,865.26	9.217.19
	-		7	ZORRAZE RZ ZEZ M.			1	Ž.	
	n	955	i i	1				and a	
1/018 2000-02167	e1	Name A	8	1,844,00 0,988.27	87		90.00	2,312.40	1207714
_		1,001,00	27	1,761.0e	20.00	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	4.4	200	15-10-17
112		Vaniar 1		January January A. A.	20.00	7 (1 2 (1)	14.0	202.20	No. of Concession, Name of Street, or other party of the Street, o
Į	_	20	-	70 E1	*	E 1	20	Z1	
i e	April Chays	\$ <b>6</b> 8	152 Feb.	\$ \$ \$	200 Had		P. C.	200 E34	
42	İ	***	N	R #	363	R	2	共同	i
Appendix A. Marie Control of the Con		Catalogue (Allago)	Educations Audidings (1913)	Efficational Audioographic Philit	Occupator.	Describerator	Abstracts by the Suppost Spatisky	Information System Suppose Specials information System Suppose Specials	

Ny to Den (1) went days may be added at the describes of the Hermites Disease

Law Hospie 12/123

Ten Majoria Milita

83.76 3,313,32 86,146.26 67.59 3,512,12 91315,043 5,573,62 9,573,62 92,914.01 61.91 3,276.81 83,637.14 66.62 3,408.82 88665.38 \$,123.12 B1,201.11 83.71 \$,310,51 B1,03 3,389.48 87,580,38 81,888 3,214,08 83,588.19 58.35 3,032.15 78,838,02 58.35 3,032.15 78,838.02 61.86 3,214,08 83,586.19 58.11 2,815.63 76,803.87 50.44 3,090.47 80,382.10 67.54 3,144.58 81,759.11 58.11 2,915.53 75,803.87 59,48 3,090,47 80,362,10 57.54 3,144.58 81,759.11 53,95 2,803,40 72,888,33 67.19 8,971,80 77,261,64 3,023.84 78,614,53 53.95 2,803.40 72,888,33 67.18 2,971.80 77,281.84 56.32 3,023.64 78,614.53 54.90 2,857.31 74,290.03 51.88 2,695.57 70,084.93 51.88 2,695,57 70,084.83 53.20 2,807.34 75,590.90 54.99 2,857.31 74,290.03 49.88 2,591.90 67,389.35 52.87 2,747.41 71,432.74 51.15 2,795.52 72,883.55 61.15 2,785.52 72,883.55 49.88 2,581.90 67,389.35 52.67 2,747.41 71,432.74 50.84 2,641.74 68,685.31 49,18 2,688.00 89,888.03 46.14 2,397.64 62,339.64 48.91 2,641.50 88,078.94 47.32 2,588.39 67,246.08 46.29 2,865.39 61,188.05 45.53 2,488,43 64,699.18 2,307.24 59,888.27 42.70 2,218.83 57,682.15 46.27 2,362.06 81,153.87 43.82 2,394.88 62,286.30 43.21 2,245.10 58,374.84 40.76 2,118.10 55,070.60 41.79 2,283,74 59,377.27 41.46 65,888.45 38.81 2,175,55 68,584.25 37.11 1,928.28 50,134.87 30.24 2,049.96 53,142.97 38.08 2,081.25 64,112.38 35.41 1,838.95 47,838.74 37.83 1,850.35 50,709.07 36.41 1,889.97 51,738.52 1.015 38.88 1,768.24 46,822.31 1,872.22 48,877.64 34.71 1,897.03 49,322.88 33.53 2,347.09 61,024,38 32.45 1,696.27 43,843.14 1,787.45 48,473.74 38.13 1,810.78 47,079.87 31.83 2,235.32 58,118.43 Period: Step 32,45 1,686.27 43,843.14 34.40 1,787.45 46,473.74 33.13 1,810.78 47,079.87 31.93 2,235.32 58,118.43 183 Hourly 193 BW (Pm) 193 Arrusal 193 Hourly 193 Hourly 193 Arrusal 203 Hourly 203 BW (Pm) 203 BW (Pm) 203 BW (Pm) 280 Hourly 250 BW (Pro) 260 Amusi Assigned Work Days 888 888 888 888 Grade Information System Support Specialist Information System Support Specialist Information System Support Specialist storred Unit Wage Scale Educational Audologia: PHD Educational Audologia: PHD Educational Audiologia: PHD Educational Audiologist Educational Audiologist Educational Audiologist

\*Up to five (5) work days may be added at the discretion of the Executive Director

eg eg Tim Moguine MSEA BB

51.64 3,614.71 93,982.42

40.50 2,834.72 73,702.86

38.65 2,705.26 70,336.65